Partner choice in the socio-sexual interactions among wild bonobos

(Pan paniscus)

Takumasa Yokoyama

2023

Abstract

My study aimed to clarify the tendencies of partner choice in socio-sexual interactions (copulation and genito-genital rubbing) among wild bonobos (Pan paniscus). To achieve this, I observed wild bonobos by focal animal sampling for adult females at Wamba, Luo Scientific Reserve, Democratic Republic of the Congo. In Chapter 2, I investigated the mating and association patterns while considering female sexual states to understand why the reproductive skew in high-ranking males is high among bonobos. I found that females showing maximum sexual swelling with a high probability of conception maintained close physical proximity with high-ranking males. Females for whom longer time had elapsed since the last parturition with a high probability of conception had more frequent 5-m proximity with males than those for whom shorter time had elapsed. The proportion of copulation was higher with higher-ranking males than with lower-ranking males. These results suggested that partner preferences in copulation are evident when females show a high probability of conception, partly explaining the higher reproductive skew in bonobos than in chimpanzees. The results were discussed in relation to previous hypotheses on the influence of long-lasting mother-son relationships on the mating success of males and on the contribution of female receptivity during non-conceptive nursing and pregnancy periods to moderate intermale aggression in bonobos. In Chapter 3, I examined the partner choice in genito-genital rubbing (GG rubbing), explicitly focusing on the social bonding hypothesis. My results showed that older and

higher-ranking females solicited GG rubbing more often than younger and lower-ranking females. Female-female dyads with close age and dominance ranks frequently engaged in GG rubbing. The more frequently the dyads were in close physical proximity, the more they engaged in GG rubbing. No correlation was observed between grooming and GG rubbing. These results suggested that the characteristics of female gregariousness during feeding might affect partner choice in GG rubbing, and partner choice may be opportunistic and unlikely to depend on affiliative relationships. The current study proposes that the behavioral patterns in copulation and GG rubbing are similar. Bonobos might choose their partners for copulation and GG rubbing, depending on close physical proximity. While bonobos usually maintain high gregariousness in the mixed-sex party, some pair combinations, such as between females and males with high-ranking mothers and between females with close ages and dominance rank, may have more frequent opportunities to engage in copulation or GG rubbing than other pairs.

Table of Contents

CHAPTER 1: GENERAL INTRODUCTION

1.	Reproductive and social functions in socio-sexual interactions among non-human
	primates
2.	Partner choice and socio-sexual interactions in female bonobos
3.	Aim and outline of the thesis

CHAPTER 2: WHY BONOBOS SHOW A HIGH REPRODUCTIVE SKEW TOWARDS HIGH-RANKING MALES: ANALYSES FOR ASSOCIATION AND MATING PATTERNS CONCERNING FEMALE SEXUAL STATES

1.	Abstract
2.	Introduction
	2-1 Factors affecting mating and reproductive success in non-human primates 19
	2-2 Comparison of mating and reproductive success between genus Pan and aim of this
	study
3.	Methods
	3-1 Study site and subjects
	3-2 Data collection

	3-3 Assessment of sexual swellings and the number of days after the last parturition 27
	3-4 Dominance hierarchy among females and males
	3-5 Data analysis
4.	Results
	4-1 Factors affecting the proportion of visual proximity
	4-2 Factors affecting the proportion of 5-m proximity
	4-3 Factors affecting the proportion of copulation
5.	Discussion

CHAPTER 3: PARTNER CHOICE IN GENITO-GENITAL RUBBING AMONG FEMALE

BONOBOS (Pan paniscus) IS HIGHLY DEPENDENT ON PHYSICAL PROXIMITY

1.	Abstract
2.	Introduction
3.	Methods
	3-1 Study site and subjects
	3-2 Data collection
	3-3 Dominance hierarchy among females 56
	3-4 Data analysis

4. Results

	4-1 Influences of female age on the proportion of solicited GG rubbing 59
	4-2 Influences of age differences, proximity index, and grooming index on the proportion of
	GG rubbing
5.	Discussion

CHAPTER 4: GENERAL DISCUSSIONS

1.	Summary of results and limitations
2.	Comparison of behavioral patterns in copulation and GG rubbing between genus
	<i>Pan</i>
3.	Variation of partner choice for copulation and GG rubbing
4.	Future studies on partner choice in socio-sexual interactions among primates, including
	humans

REFERENCES	36
-------------------	----

List of Figures and Tables

Figures

Figure 2-1: The mean proportion of visual proximity in 95 dyads between focal females and adult
males of each dominance rank
Figure 2-2: The mean proportion of 5-meter proximity in 95 dyads between focal females and adult
males of each dominance rank
Figure 2-3: The mean proportion of copulation in 95 dyads between focal females and adult males of
each dominance rank
Figure 3-1: (1) The female solicitor (left) displayed genitalia to the individual on the right that was
foraging for food
Figure 3-2: (2) The female (on the right) approached and embraced the female (on the left) that
displayed the genitals
Figure 3-3: (3) The solicitor and partner females rubbed their genital areas against each other; this
was defined as successful GG rubbing
Figure 4-1: Female aggregations during a group encounter of three groups

Tables

Table 2-1: 0	Composition	of adult and	adolescent	individuals	in the I	E1 group		40
--------------	-------------	--------------	------------	-------------	----------	----------	--	----

Table 2-2: The number of days after the last parturition and focal following time of each focal female
during non-MS and MS 42
Table 2-3: The results of GLMM in best-fit models for visual proximity. 43
Table 2-4: The results of GLMM in best-fit models for 5-meter proximity. 43
Table 2-5: The results of GLMM in best-fit models for copulation. 44
Table 3-1: Summary of established predictions that I tested in this study and their corresponding
results
Table 3-2: Composition of adult and adolescent females in the E1 group. 67
Table 3-3: Focal follow time with all scan points and dyadic events of each focal female
Table 3-4: Results of GLMM that investigated the effect of focal female age on the proportion of
solicited GG rubbing (Model 1) 69
Table 3-5: Results of GLMM that investigated the effect of age differences, proximity index, and
grooming index on the proportion of GG rubbing (Model 2)
Supplement: Number of dyadic aggressive behaviors among females (Observed from July 2018 to
March 2020)

Acknowledgments

This study was conducted under Dr. Takeshi Furuichi as my supervisor. I am grateful for his constant support and advice on my papers and for allowing me to conduct my fieldwork at Wamba. I gratefully thank the field assistants at Wamba for their help in the forest, especially Mr. B. Bafutsa, Mr. Emikei, Mr. Y. Bafaluka, Mr. B. Bambambe, and Mr. B. Lokemba. I could get enough data to conduct my research with their support in the forest.

I appreciate Dr. T. Matsumoto and Dr. M. Shimada for their valuable suggestions and comments on my manuscript. I thank Ms. K. Mouri and Dr. C. Hashimoto for helping with the hormonal analysis and Dr. A. MacIntosh for helping with the statistical analyses. I appreciate Dr. I. Monkengo, Dr. M. Mbangi, Dr. N. Mwanza, and Dr. B. Mbomba for their help at Kinshasa, DR Congo, and their contribution to the management of the basecamp at Wamba when no Japanese researchers stayed at Wamba because of COVID-19. I sincerely thank Mr. S. Yasumoto, Mr. S. Shibata, Dr. A. Yokotsuka, Dr. S.Takamura, Dr. S. Ishizuka, Dr. K. Toda, Dr. R. Yamaguchi, Dr. H. Ryu, Dr. N. Tokuyama, Dr. T. Sakamaki, Dr. N. Matsuura, Dr. D. Kimura, and Dr. T. Yumoto for providing valuable information and contributing to the continuous observation of the study group and camp management at Wamba. I also thank the members of the Department of Ecology and Social Behavior at Kyoto University.

This study was supported by the Japan Society for the Promotion of Science (JSPS) Grants-in-Aid for Scientific Research (26257408, 16H02753, 25304019, and 18KK0204).

Chapter 1

General introduction

1. Reproductive and social functions in socio-sexual interactions among non-human primates

Sexual interactions between opposite-sex individuals of non-human primates are often not directly concerned with reproduction but may serve as communicatory functions associated with dominance, greeting, and appeasement, among others (Young *et al.* 1982; de Waal 1990). Sexual interactions between same-sex individuals seem to reflect or be influenced by important social factors, such as affiliative relations and alliances between individuals, high social status of certain individuals, and within- or between-group tension resolution (Vasey 1995, 2006; Furuichi *et al.* 2014). These interactions have been more accurately termed as "socio-sexual" rather than "sexual" (Owens 1975), and the term "socio-sexual" refers to interactions that are sexual in form and fulfill some social role (Wickler 1967; Vasey 1995, 2002b).

In socio-sexual interactions during the likely times of conception, males and females choose their partners depending on various aspects, such as kin relationships, dominance ranks of both sexes, affiliative relationships, and the sexual state of each partner. (Bernstein 1976; Hrdy 1979; Small 1989; Pusey 1990; Bulger 1993; Kokko 2001; Weingrill *et al.* 2003; Deschner *et al.* 2004;

Wolff and MacDonald 2004; Stumpf and Boesch 2006, 2005; Alberts *et al.* 2006; Fürtbauer *et al.* 2011). For example, alpha males of chacma baboons (*Papio cynocephalus ursinus*) consorted with females in conceptive periods more frequently than those in non-conceptive periods (Bulger 1993). Female chimpanzees (*Pan troglodytes*) repeatedly copulated with high-ranking males when the likelihood of conception was expected to be the highest (Matsumoto-Oda 1999). Japanese macaques (*Macaca fuscata*) and rhesus macaques (*Macaca mulatta*) tended to avoid copulating with long-term group members and affiliative individuals to prevent inbreeding (Berard 1999; Takahata *et al.* 1999).

Individuals sometimes choose partners even in socio-sexual interactions during times of unlikely conception and same-sex socio-sexual interactions. For example, female long-tailed macaques (*Macaca fascicularis*) performed post-conception mating with low-ranking or non-resident males, indicating that these copulations may be part of a female reproductive strategy to confuse paternity (Engelhardt *et al.* 2007). Female white-faced capuchins (*Cebus capucinus*) frequently copulate with immatures, indicating that this behavior is used to acquire proficiency (Manson *et al.* 1997). Female Japanese macaques copulate with certain males during non-conceptive periods after conception, which may provide females to receive male support during agonistic interactions and competition over food (Takahata 1982; Furuichi *et al.* 2014). Female Japanese macaques avoided same-sex interactions with those in close kin, such as mothers, daughters, sisters, grandmothers, and granddaughters, which might be related to sexual motivation and incest avoidance (Chapais and Mignault 1991; Chapais *et al.* 1997; Vasey 2002b). Socio-sexual interactions have also been reported between female chimpanzees. Shimada (2014) reported one case of these interactions between young females at Mahale Mountains National Park, Tanzania, suggesting that these interactions could be interpreted as a social pretend play with division of roles. However, these interactions were also recorded in affiliative individuals in Bossou, Guinea (Zamma and Fujita 2004) and the New Iberia Research Center, University of Louisiana, Louisiana, USA (Anestis 2004), suggesting that these interactions reinforce or, at least, reflect social bonds.

The above examples of opposite-sex and same-sex socio-sexual interactions suggest that investigating partner choice is valuable in understanding the significant functions of these interactions. However, the tendencies of partner choice are poorly understood, especially in same-sex socio-sexual interactions. Furthermore, within or between non-human primates, the significant function of same-sex socio-sexual interactions is controversial (Hanby 1974; Yamagiwa 1987; Parish 1994, 1996; Vasey 1995; Robbins 1996; Takenoshita 1998; Hohmann and Fruth 2000; Leca *et al.* 2014; Grueter and Stoinski 2016; Tokuyama and Furuichi 2016; Moscovice *et al.* 2019). For example, previous studies on same-sex socio-sexual interactions in olive baboons (*Papio anubis*) (Owens 1976), pig-tailed macaques (*Macaca nemestrina*) (Oi 1991), and crested macaques (*Macaca nigra*) (Dixson 1977) suggested that these interactions serve social functions, such as close temporal association, increased inter-individual tolerance, and reduced aggression during periods of tension or excitement (Vasey 1995). Socio-sexual interactions between female rhesus macaques were often reported, suggesting that these interactions may restore social bonds during social instability of a group (Fairbanks *et al.* 1977). Female Hanuman langurs (*Semnopithecus entellus*) performed same-sex socio-sexual interactions, suggesting that these interactions may be related to the female–female competition to minimize the probability of a competitor conceiving (Srivastava *et al.* 1991).

2. Partner choice and socio-sexual interactions in female bonobos

In bonobos (*Pan paniscus*), females frequently engage in socio-sexual interactions in all age and sex combinations (de Waal 1990; Kano 1992). Females show receptivity during non-conceptive nursing and pregnancy periods and copulate with males frequently (Kano 1992; Furuichi *et al.* 2014; Hashimoto *et al.* 2022). Such copulations are often observed during feeding as a way of tension regulation or social communication rather than reproduction (de Waal 1990; Furuichi 2011). Females frequently perform a same-sex socio-sexual interaction called genito–genital rubbing (GG rubbing), in which females embrace ventro–ventrally and rub their genital area against each other (Kuroda 1980; Kitamura 1989). Genito–genital rubbing may have multiple social functions, such as reconciliation, tension regulation, expression of social status, and social bonding (Hohmann and Fruth 2000). However, partner choice in these socio-sexual interactions is poorly understood.

Some studies in the 1990s and early 2000s suggested that female bonobos might promiscuously copulate with males regardless of the male's dominance rank (Furuichi 1997; Hohmann and Fruth 2003). However, recent genetic studies showed that the reproductive skew of high-ranking males was high in bonobos (Surbeck *et al.* 2017b; Ishizuka *et al.* 2018). Therefore, while females may copulate with several males to fulfill social functions, they may choose certain individuals as their reproductive partners when they are likely to conceive. Investigating the partner choice in copulation may help understand the mating strategies of bonobos.

Genito–genital rubbing is not as much a sexual interaction as a social one (Kano 1992; Furuichi 2011). The social functions of GG rubbing were specifically examined (de Waal 1987, 1990; Parish 1994, 1996; Hohmann and Fruth 2000; Fruth and Hohmann 2006; Clay and Zuberbühler 2012; Moscovice *et al.* 2019; Annicchiarico *et al.* 2020). However, the social functions of GG rubbing described in previous studies are inconsistent, suggesting that GG rubbing has multiple social functions, and its usage varies among allopatric bonobo populations (see details in Chapter 3). Investigating partner choice in GG rubbing may help understand the significant function of GG rubbing and whether these functions vary among allopatric populations.

3. Aim and outline of the thesis

This thesis aimed to examine partner choice in the socio-sexual interactions (copulation

and GG rubbing) at Wamba, Luo Scientific Reserve, Democratic Republic of the Congo, using focal animal sampling for adult females. Evaluating the partner choice tendencies of bonobos in socio-sexual interactions can shed light on their mating and reproductive strategies and the significant function of these interactions between females.

In Chapter 2, I analyzed the mating and association patterns while considering female sexual states. I hypothesized that females with a high probability of conception frequently copulate with high-ranking males, which can partly explain the high reproductive skew of high-ranking males in bonobos. To test this hypothesis, I examined the influences of female sexual swelling, the number of days after parturition, and male dominance rank on the frequencies of two association measures, visual and 5-meter proximity, between females and males and copulation. Through this chapter, I discussed previous hypotheses on the influence of long-lasting mother-son relationships on the mating success of males and the contribution of female receptivity during non-conceptive nursing periods to moderate intermale aggression in bonobos.

In Chapter 3, I analyzed the partner choice for GG rubbing with a specific focus on the social bonding hypothesis. To understand the significant function related to the social bonding hypothesis of GG rubbing, I established two hypotheses: 1) female bonobos engage in GG rubbing to form new affiliative relationships with high-ranking females, 2) female bonobos engage in GG rubbing to maintain existing affiliative relationships between females. Following these hypotheses,

I examined the influence of female age (correlated with their dominance ranks) on the frequency of solicited GG rubbing. Moreover, I examined the effects of female age and two affiliative measures, grooming and proximity indices, on the frequency of successful GG rubbing. Through this chapter, I discussed the characteristics of female gregariousness during feeding affecting partner choice for GG rubbing.

In Chapter 4, I discussed the similarity between partner choice for copulation and that for GG rubbing while considering female characteristics, such as female gregariousness, dominance rank, and prolonged maximum sexual swelling. This study helps understand the tendencies of partner choice in socio-sexual interactions among wild bonobos on an individual basis.

Chapter 2

Why bonobos show a high reproductive skew towards high-ranking males: analyses for association and mating patterns concerning female sexual states

1 Abstract

Among non-human primates, male dominance rank is not necessarily a good indicator of mating success, and relationships between male dominance rank and mating or reproductive success are affected by female behavior and sexual states implying their probability of conception. Although comparisons of the behavior of male chimpanzees (Pan troglodytes) and bonobos (Pan paniscus) suggest that the effect of male dominance rank on mating success is expected to be less prominent in bonobos, recent genetic studies have shown that high-ranking male reproductive skew is higher in bonobos than in chimpanzees. One possible reason for the higher reproductive skew in bonobos could be that female behavior and their sexual states may have much more influence on male mating and reproductive success in bonobos than in chimpanzees. In the current study on bonobos, I conducted focal animal observation of females and analyzed the influence of female sexual swelling, the number of days after parturition, and dominance rank of males on female associations, and copulation with adult males. Our results showed that females with maximum swelling (MS) had more proximity with high-ranking males and copulated more frequently with higher-ranking males

than with lower-ranking males. Females for whom longer time had elapsed since parturition, and therefore had higher probabilities of conception, had 5-m proximity with adult males more frequently than females whom shorter time had elapsed since parturition, but did not have more copulation with adult males. Females with MS had proximity and copulated with high-ranking males frequently, which partly explain why the reproductive skew is so high in bonobos. These results are discussed in relation to previous hypotheses on the influence of long-lasting mother-son relationships on mating success of males and on the contribution of female receptivity during non-conceptive nursing periods to moderate intermale aggression in bonobos.

2 Introduction

2-1. Factors affecting mating and reproductive success in non-human primates

Non-human primates in multi-male/multi-female societies have various mating patterns related to the costs and benefits for reproduction (Tutin 1979; Dixson 1998; Kappeler and van Schaik 2002). Some previous studies investigated the correlation between mating success and male dominance rank and found positive correlations (Cowlishaw and Dunbar 1991; Ellis 1995; Majolo et al. 2012). For example, mating successes was significantly related to male dominance rank in barbary macaques (Macaca sylvanus) (Paul et al. 1993), long-tailed macaques (Macaca fascicularis) (de Ruiter and van Hooff 1993), and savannah baboon (Papio cynocephalus) (Alberts et al. 2006). In other studies, male dominance rank was not necessarily a good indicator of mating and reproductive success (Kutsukake and Nunn 2006; Alberts 2012; Peter 2012). For example, the alpha male mating success did not differ from that of other adult males in tufted capuchin monkeys (Cebus paell) (Alfaro 2005). In addition, mating and reproductive success may be affected by female behavior and females' sexual states indicating their probability of conception (Small 1989; Keddy-Hector 1992; Clutton-Brock 2007). For example, female Japanese macaques (Macaca fuscata) and rhesus macaques (Macaca mulatta) tended to prefer mating partners based on affiliative relationships and novelty, which resulted in higher mating success and reproductive success for younger, middle-ranking males (Berard 1999; Takahata et al. 1999), although male dominance rank was

correlated with mating success (Curie - Cohen *et al.* 1983; Inoue *et al.* 1990). In chacma baboons (*Papio cynocephalus ursinus*), alpha males consorted with females in conceptive periods more frequently than in non-conceptive periods (Bulger 1993).

2-2. Comparison of mating and reproductive success between genus Pan and aim of this study

In chimpanzees (Pan troglodytes), males frequently show a variety of dominance-related behaviors (Newton-Fisher 2004; Muller and Mitani 2005). High-ranking males sometimes monopolize receptive females or intervene in association or copulation between lower-ranking males and receptive females (Goodall 1968; Watts 1998). However, the relationship between male dominance rank and mating or reproductive success is ambiguous. For example, the alpha male of the K group in the Mahale Mountains National Park copulated with females more frequently than other males (Nishida 1979), and reproductive success was significantly correlated with male dominance rank in the Budongo Forest (Newton-Fisher et al. 2010). On the other hand, younger males had higher reproductive success per individual than older males, and low-ranking males sired more offspring than predicted by the priority of access model in the Gombe National Park (Wroblewski et al. 2009). In the Taï National Park, competition among males strongly decreased the relative reproductive success of the alpha male, such that the alpha male's rate of success decreased from 67% with few competitors to 38% with four or more competitors (Boesch et al. 2006).

Moreover, mating and reproductive success may be affected by female behavior and females' sexual states. For example, females were more proceptive and less resistant toward preferred males during the periovulatory period in the Kibale National Park (Pieta 2008). In the Taï National Park, female chimpanzees were more selective about copulating with particular males, not only with high-ranking males, when ovulation occurred (Stumpf and Boesch 2005, 2006). The increasing number of synchronously receptive females in a group reduced the proportion of paternities by the alpha male in chimpanzees (Boesch *et al.* 2006). On the other hand, in the Mahale Mountains National Park, when the likelihood of conception was expected to be highest, females repeatedly copulated with high-ranking males, and there was a positive correlation between female grooming frequency and mating frequency (Matsumoto-Oda 1999).

In bonobos (*Pan paniscus*), alpha males might not monopolize copulations because there were many females with maximum swelling in the party at any one time (Furuichi and Hashimoto 2002). In addition, aggressive behavior by males toward other males is rare in the context of mating (Furuichi 1997; Hohmann and Fruth 2003; Surbeck and Hohmann 2013). This trend might be because females' prolonged maximum swelling periods could influence males' behavior in sexual competitions (*e.g.*, this prolonged maximum sexual swelling has been noted with the fact that there is no known case of coercive mate guarding and infanticide by males in bonobos) (Furuichi and Hashimoto 2002; Ryu *et al.* 2015), and females often form coalitions to attack males after males

show aggressive behaviors toward females (White 1992; Parish 1996; Tokuyama and Furuichi 2016). Moreover, female bonobos often copulated with males in a non-conceptive period when they could hardly get conception even though they show the cyclic swelling of sexual skin (called "pseudo estrus") (Furuichi and Hashimoto 2002; Furuichi et al. 2014; Hashimoto et al. 2022). Because of these characteristics, females might be able to copulate with males promiscuously regardless of male dominance ranks. Therefore, the effect of male dominance rank on mating success is expected to be less prominent in bonobos than in chimpanzees. However, recent genetic and behavioral studies have shown that high-ranking male reproductive skew is higher in bonobos than in chimpanzees (Surbeck et al. 2017b; Ishizuka et al. 2018; Ryu et al. 2022). Especially at Wamba, nine out of 11 offspring born in the two study groups during the study periods were sired by the alpha males (Ishizuka et al. 2018). Female primates sometimes choose particular males for mating partners, such as large, powerful, or dominant males when these males provide access to food, paternal care, or protection from other infanticidal males (Paul 2002; Fujita 2010). However, in bonobos, the characteristics of what sometimes is called female-dominated societies, as described above, suggest that there is little need for females to gain these benefits by choosing particular males. If so, why do bonobos show a high reproductive skew towards high-ranking males or alpha males? A cause of this discrepancy in the relationships between male dominance rank and mating or reproductive success in bonobos is still poorly understood.

As mentioned above, relationships between male dominance rank and mating or reproductive success seem to be largely influenced by female behaviors and female sexual states, which may partly explain the different tendencies within and between species. Especially in bonobos, where females have a high social status and tend to control male behaviors in sexual competitions by coalition formations among females, prolonged maximum sexual swelling, and pseudo estrus, female behaviors in relation to their sexual states may have much more influence on male mating and reproductive success than in chimpanzees (Kuroda 1980; Wrangham 1993; Parish and de Waal 2000; Furuichi 2011; Surbeck and Hohmann 2013; Tokuyama and Furuichi 2016). However, few studies have focused on female behavior related to their sexual states by focal animal observation of females.

One of the possible reasons for the higher reproductive skew in bonobos might be that, although females have chances to copulate with males promiscuously regardless of male dominance ranks, females with a high probability of conception frequently copulate with high-ranking males. This hypothesis predicts the following tendencies:

- 1. Females with maximum swelling will have proximity and copulate with higher-ranking males more often than lower-ranking males.
- 2. Females for whom longer time has elapsed since the last parturition will have proximity and copulate with higher-ranking males more often than lower-ranking males.

To examine these predictions, I collected data by focal followings of females on the number and identity of males found in the visual or 5-m proximity and frequency of copulation with each male. I then examined the influence of the status of sexual swelling, the number of days after the last parturition of focal females, and the dominance rank of male partners, on the proportions of spatial association and copulation.

3 Methods

3-1 Study Site and Subjects

Data collection in the current study was conducted on the E1 group at Wamba, Luo Scientific Reserve, Democratic Republic of the Congo, where long-term studies on bonobos have been conducted since 1973 (Kano 1992; Furuichi *et al.* 2012). There are three fully habituated and identified groups (E1, PE, and PW) in Wamba (Sakamaki *et al.*, 2018). The E1 group ranges over primary, old, and young secondary, swamp forest, and, rarely, agricultural fields (Mulavwa *et al.*, 2010; Terada *et al.*, 2015).

During our study period, the E1 group comprised 38 to 41 individuals, including 12 or 13 adult females (parous, or \geq 15 years old), and 0 or 2 adolescent females (nulliparous, and 8 to <15 years old), 8 or 9 adult males (\geq 15 years old, and a 14 years old male (KT) who already sired several infants), and 3 or 4 adolescent males (8 to <15 years old) (age classes were categorized according to

(Hashimoto 1997; Toda and Furuichi 2020)) (Table 2-1). All adult females and males ages were estimated based on their physical features and birth records (Table 2-1). I already knew the maternal kin relationships of all adult females and males in the E1 group from long-term observation data since 1976.

3-2 Data Collection

TY and local assistants observed bonobos in the E1 group for 1031.07 h during the study periods: 1) July 2018-December 2018, and 2) January 2020 – March 2020. I followed bonobos when they woke up from their night nests, which they made the day before until they made new night nests (usually from 06:00 h to 17:00 h). Bonobos live in fission-fusion social dynamics, where party members change continuously and flexibly (Mulavwa *et al.*, 2008). When the bonobo's party separated into several parties, I followed the largest party as much as possible. One adult female showing cyclic sexual swelling was selected for continuous focal sampling (Altmann 1974). However, I did not follow the females who were confirmed to have had a stillbirth or miscarriage in their latest pregnancy (Hs, Jk, Ot in 2018, and Yk in 2020) or those I could not constantly follow (Zn in 2018). In addition, I did not follow Ki and Jk because they had adult sons in the E1 group. Because I ran our analyses in the dyads between females and non-related adult males, including these females, excluding their sons, might bias the results on the association and mating patterns of

them. Furthermore, data for Yk from October to December 2018 were excluded because she was inferred by hormonal analysis to have become pregnant in October 2018 (Yokoyama *et al.*, unpublished data). There were seven focal females in 2018 and four focal females in 2020 (Table 2-2). When there were multiple females that I could follow, I selected a female whose total following time (by the previous day) was shorter than that of other females. I did not follow the same focal females more than twice each day. One focal session continued for 1 h. I stopped the focal session when I could not observe the focal female continuously for 20 min. Data of focal sessions in which I followed for more than 30 min were used for behavioral analysis. The total following time for all focal females was 338.90 h (390 sessions; 30.81 ± 12.05 h in 35.45 ± 14.03 sessions per individual) during 1031.07 h in observations of bonobos on 122 days (8.27 ± 2.40 h per day).

During the focal sessions, I recorded all the individuals in sight. I recorded the name of neighboring individuals within 5-m of the focal female, and their activities (*e.g.*, feeding, moving, and resting) were recorded every 10 minutes in a total of six scan points (*e.g.*, during a focal session from 07:00 to 08:00, scan points were 07:10, 07:20, 07:30, 07:40, 07:50, 08:00). The average length of a focal session was 52.14 ± 7.48 min, and each focal session included 5.45 ± 0.77 scan points (2125 scan points in 390 focal sessions). All cases of ventro-dorsal or ventro-ventral genital intromission in which focal females engaged were recorded as copulations irrespective of whether I confirmed ejaculations or not (Furuichi 1987).

3-3 Assessment of sexual swellings and the number of days after the last parturition

Among many non-human primate females, perineal sexual skin swelling shows its maximaum size near ovulation, and most mating activity is observed frequently in the maximal swelling periods (Furuichi, 1987; Ryu et al., 2015). Following a methodology established in previous studies on bonobos (Furuichi 1987; Ryu et al. 2015), sexual swelling of focal females was recorded in one of three categories: non-swelling (sw1), intermediate swelling (sw2), and maximum swelling (sw3) during focal sessions. In addition, for data analysis, the records of these three categories were reassigned to one of two categories: non-maximum swelling (non-MS: sw1 and sw2) and maximum swelling (MS: sw3) because behavioral patterns of females were significantly different between sw1 and sw3, and between sw2 and sw3 (Ryu et al. 2015). To evaluate the possibility of conception of each focal female, I used the number of days after the last parturition, which was calculated using the delivery record (Table 2-2). Because female bonobos start showing receptivity at around 8 months after parturition but do not conceive until around 4.8 years after parturition (Hashimoto et al. 2022), I inferred that females with a longer time since parturition had a higher probability of the next conception. The date of parturition was determined using daily observation records. However, if a female had not been observed for several days or weeks before she was observed with a newborn baby, I considered that the female delivered on the mid-day between the last observation day without an infant and the first observation day with the infant.

3-4 Dominance hierarchy among females and males

During observations of bonobos, all dyadic aggressive interactions (e.g., bite, hit, push, and chase) in female-female and male-male dyads were recorded to determine their dominance hierarchy. We recorded agonistic interactions in female dyads 45 times in 2018 and 12 times in 2020. Male-male dyadic agonistic interactions were observed 106 times in 2018 and 22 times in 2020. We used ADAGIO (Douglas et al., 2017) to determine the dominance hierarchy among females and males. Female dominance rank might be correlated with age, and older females tend to dominate over the younger ones (Furuichi 1997). Therefore, considering the female's estimated age and ADAGIO results, I determined the female dominance rank (categorized into three types: high, middle, and low) and an alpha female. To analyze the male dominance hierarchy in 2020, I added data of dyadic agonistic interactions collected by another researcher from September to December 2019 (a total of 90 times) because our data in 2020 were too scarce for us to use ADAGIO. Considering the ADAGIO results, I determined the male dominance rank (Table 2-1). The male dominance hierarchy was not significantly linear in 2018 (ADAGIO, h' = 0.470, p = 0.093), and in 2020 (ADAGIO, *h*' = 0.382, *p* = 0.315).

3-5 Data Analysis

All analyses were conducted using R version 4.0.3 (R development Core Team 2008) with

the following packages: lme4 (Douglas et al. 2012). I used a generalized linear mixed model (GLMM) with Poisson error structure and log link function (Zuur et al. 2009) to examine the effect of swelling status (2 levels; non-MS or MS), the number of days after the last parturition, and male dominance rank as predictor variables on the proportion of visual proximity, 5-m proximity, and copulation as response variables in 95 dyads between focal females and adult males. Moreover, I tested two two-way interactions between swelling status and male dominance ranks and between the number of days after the last parturition and male dominance ranks to test predictions in the current study. If these two-way interactions were not significant effects in the models, I removed them during the testing procedure (Mundry et al. 2009). I examined all possible combinations of these predictor variables to detect the best-fit model with the smallest Akaike's information criterion (AIC) (Akaike 1974). I checked the collinearity between predictors in all models using "car" package (Fox and Weisberg 2018). The models, including the issues of collinearity evaluated using Variance Inflation Factors (VIF), were not used for behavioral analyses (VIF > 5) (Leroux *et al.* 2021). Before conducting the GLMM analyses, I standardized the covariates of the number of days after the last parturition and male dominance rank to a mean of zero and a standard deviation of one (Toda and Furuichi 2020). I include the focal female's ID and the adult male's ID as random variables in all models to avoid pseudo-replication. I controlled for differences in observation times between the 95 dyads by including the number of sessions or scan points in which I followed focal females as an offset term in the models.

To analyze the degree of affiliation with which the focal female had spatial associations with adult males, I examined the proportions of two kinds of proximity between the focal female and each adult male. If a male was observed by TY or local assistants to be following the focal female during the focal session, the male was considered to be within the visual proximity in the session (one data point was one focal session). On the other hand, I recorded the males found within 5-m of the focal female (one data point was one scan point at 10-minute intervals).

To analyze the proportion in which the focal female copulated with the adult male, the number of focal sessions where the adult male copulated with the focal female was analyzed (one data point was one focal session). Repeated copulations among the same dyad within the focal session were considered as one event.

4 Result

4-1 Factors affecting the proportion of visual proximity

I did not include any two-way interactions between factors implying female sexual states and male dominance rank in the GLMM analysis because they were not selected in the model considering AIC and VIF (largest VIF = 1.03) (Table 2-3). The swelling status of focal females did not significantly affect the proportion of visual proximity of dyads between focal females and adult males (Table 2-3). The number of days after parturition did not significantly affect the proportion of visual proximity of dyads between focal females and adult males (Table 2-3). The proportion of visual proximity was significantly higher in higher-ranking males than in lower-ranking males (Table 2-3, Figure 2-1).

4-2 Factors affecting the proportion of 5-m proximity

I included one two-way interaction between swelling status and male dominance rank in the GLMM analysis because it was incorporated in the model considering AIC and VIF (largest VIF = 4.01) (Table 2-4). The two-way interaction between swelling status and male dominance rank had a significant effect (Table 2-4, Figure 2-2), suggesting that focal females with MS had 5-m proximity with higher-ranking males more often than lower-ranking males. The number of days after parturition significantly affected the proportion of the 5-m proximity of dyads between focal females and adult males (Table 2-4), suggesting that focal females whom longer time had elapsed since the last parturition had 5-m proximity with males more frequently than females whom shorter time had elapsed since the last parturition.

4-3 Factors affecting the proportion of copulation

I did not include any two-way interactions between factors implying female sexual states

and male dominance rank in the GLMM analysis because they were not selected in the model considering AIC and VIF (largest VIF = 1.00) (Table 2-5). Focal females copulated with adult males more often during MS than during non-MS (Table 2-5). The number of days after parturition did not significantly influence the proportion of copulation (Table 2-5). The proportion of copulation was significantly higher in high-ranking males than in lower-ranking males (Table 2-5, Figure 2-3).

5 Discussion

I hypothesized that the tendency of females with a high probability of conception to have proximity and copulation with high-ranking males results in a high reproductive skew of high-ranking males in bonobos in the current study. Following established predictions, I examined the effect of the swelling status, the number of days after the last parturition, and male dominance rank on the proportions of spatial associations and copulation. Our results showed that females copulated with adult males more often during MS than during non-MS. The number of days after parturition significantly affected the proportion of 5-m proximity, showing that females whom longer time had elapsed since the last parturition had 5-m proximity with males more frequently than females whom shorter time had elapsed since the last parturition. Females had visual proximity and copulated with higher-ranking males more frequently than with lower-ranking males. When females showed MS, the effect of male dominance rank on the proportion of 5-m proximity appeared stronger. One unexpected result was that females with MS did not have a significantly higher number of adult males in visual proximity. Although further research is needed to understand these tendencies, they might be partly explained by a behavioral pattern in which males sometimes pull females to the periphery of a party for copulation by repeating soliciting display and retreat (Furuichi unpublished observations). Alternatively, no correlation between visual proximity and female sexual states might show the characteristics of the bonobo's party compositions in which almost males usually attend the party whether females show maximum swelling or not. Overall, these results support prediction 1: high-ranking males will have proximity and copulate with females with maximum swelling more often than lower-ranking males. On the other hand, the current results did not support prediction 2; high-ranking males will have proximity and copulate with females for whom longer time has elapsed since the last parturition more often than lower-ranking males. Therefore, the hypothesis proposed in the current study is partly supported.

If intermale aggression and intervention of copulation toward lower-ranking males were rare in bonobos (Furuichi 1997, 2011; Surbeck *et al.* 2017a), why was it that females with MS had proximity and copulated with high-ranking males more frequently? According to previous studies, the existence of a male's mother in the group and her dominance rank among females seemed to influence the son's dominance rank among males, and males tended to be closely associated with their mothers (Furuichi and Ihobe 1994; Furuichi 1997, 2011). In addition, maternal support extended into adulthood, and females had the leverage to intervene in male conflicts (Surbeck *et al.*, 2011). Moreover, lower-ranking females tended to gather around high-ranking old adult females who protected the lower-ranking females against aggressive intervention by males (Furuichi 1989; Idani 1991; Tokuyama and Furuichi 2016, 2017), and females with MS tended to stay close to other females more frequently than females without MS (Ryu *et al.* 2015; Surbeck *et al.* 2021). Therefore, in the current study, females with MS might have a greater chance of spatial association and copulation with higher-ranking males whose mother is high-ranked, regardless of infrequent aggressive or monopolizing behaviors by those males.

It has been reported that, although females show receptivity from the early stage of postpartum infertility, those for whom a longer period has elapsed after parturition might have a higher probability of conception (Kano 1992; Furuichi and Hashimoto 2002; Hashimoto *et al.* 2022). Ryu *et al.* (2022) showed that males concentrated their mating effort on females with an older infant whose MS started earlier in which suggested that males could distinguish between conceptive and non-conceptive receptive periods. In addition, high-ranking males copulated with the female with higher fertility related to the probability of ovulation and male-male agonistic interactions increased when there were fertile females in the party (Ryu *et al.* 2022). This study showed that females whom longer time had elapsed since the last parturition had 5-m proximity with adult males frequently, which might partly agree with the results of a recent study (Ryu *et al.* 2022). However, why did not

the current study find the significant effect of the number of days after the last parturition on copulation, especially copulation with high-ranking males? The explanation might be that females did not change their behavioral patterns of copulation between conceptive and non-conceptive receptive periods. Because the number of females showing receptivity simultaneously increases due to receptivity in non-conceptive periods, alpha males could not monopolize females, and lower-ranking males could also get a chance to copulate with females, which might reduce sexual competition among males (Kano 1992; Furuichi and Hashimoto 2002; Furuichi 2011; Surbeck and Hohmann 2013). In the current study, females had proximity and copulation with lower-ranking males fairly frequently, although these proportions were lower than those observed with higher-ranking males. More behavioral analyses are needed to examine mating partners of females related to the receptivity in conceptive and non-conceptive periods in order to understand the hypothesis that female receptivity in a non-conceptive period reduces sexual competition among males in bonobos (Kano 1992; Furuichi 2011; Surbeck and Hohmann 2013).

As noted above, females with MS had proximity and copulated with high-ranking males more frequently, which might partly explain why the reproductive skew is so high in bonobos (Surbeck *et al.* 2017b; Ishizuka *et al.* 2018). However, in the current study, I did not detect the ovulatory period of females with MS and did not examine the relationship between female behavior and ovulation. Previous studies have suggested that the maximum swelling of females might not be a reliable indicator of ovulation (Reichert *et al.*, 2002; Douglas *et al.*, 2016). However, a recent study on the same subject group as this study showed that the number of copulations and interventions of copulation between males increased when the ovulation day of given females was getting closer (Ryu *et al.* 2022). To sufficiently understand why the reproductive skew is so high in bonobos, more elaborated studies are needed to examine the relationship between female mate choice and ovulatory periods.


Figure 2-1. The mean proportion of visual proximity in 95 dyads between focal females and adult males of each dominance rank. The *horizontal line* represents the median of the distribution on each box, while the *bottom* and *top* of the box represent the 25th and 75th quartiles respectively. *Open*

dots represent outliers.



Figure 2-2. The mean proportion of 5-meter proximity in 95 dyads between focal females and adult males of each dominance rank. The left figure

indicates the proportion when females showed non-swelling, and the right one indicates the proportion when females showed maximum swelling. The

horizontal line represents the median of the distribution on each box, while the bottom and top of the box represent the 25th and 75th quartiles respectively.

Open dots represent outliers.



Figure 2-3. The mean proportion of copulation in 95 dyads between focal females and adult males of each dominance rank. The *horizontal line* represents the median of the distribution on each box, while the *bottom* and *top* of the box represent the 25th and 75th quartiles respectively. *Open dots* represent outliers. The boxes representing the proportion of copulation with adult males of middle-and low-ranking classes are not visible because the median, the 25th, and 75th quartiles are equal to zero.

Female ID	Age	Age class		Dominance rank	Last birth in 2018	Last birth in 2020	Year and month of	Diseppearence
	(2018)	(2018/2020)		(2018 and 2020)	[year (month.day)]	[year (month.day)]	immigration	Disappearance
No	47 ^a	Adult	Adult	High	2015 (04.10-04.13)	2015 (04.10-04.13)	1983.11	
Ki	44 ^a	Adult	Adult	high (alpha)	2014 (01.29-02.03)	2019 (05.16-05.17)	1984.12	
Hs	35 ^a	Adult	Adult	High	na ^b	na ^b	1996.02-2003.08 ^c	
Yk	35 ^a	Adult	Adult	High	2014 (03.30-04.07)	na ^b	2004.04	
Jk	30^{a}	Adult	Adult	Low	na ^b	na ^b	2004.04	
S1	27 ^a	Adult	Adult	Middle	2016 (01.31-02.05)	2016 (01.31-02.05)	1996.02-2003.08 ^c	
Nv	23 ^a	Adult	Adult	Middle	2017 (02.24-03.07)	2017 (02.24-03.07)	2007.08	
Ot	21 ^a	Adult	Adult	Middle	na ^b	na ^b	2008.06	
Fk	20^{a}	Adult	Adult	Middle	2015 (12.13-12.16)	2020 (02.27-02.28)	2008.04	
Zn	16 ^a	Adult	na ^d	Low	2017 (01.11-02.10)	na ^d	2011.10	2019.12 ^d
Pf	14	Adult	Adult	Low	2016 (10.05-10.19)	2016 (10.05-10.19)	2013.10	
Ik	11	Adult	Adult	Low	2017 (05.08-05.15)	2017 (05.08-05.15)	2014.10	
Sc	9	Adolescent	Adult	Low	na ^e	2019 (03.17-04.13)	2015.11	
Db	9	Adolescent	Adult	Low	na ^e	2020 (01.20-01.21)	2016.08	

Table 2-1. Composition of adult and adolescent individuals in the E1 group Adult and adolescent females

^a I estimated age based on physical features and reproductive profiles (Sakamaki *et al.* 2015; Toda and Furuichi 2020).

^b Stillbirth or miscarriage was confirmed in the latest pregnancy.

^c Hs and Sl were identified after resumption of research after the war in 2003 (Hashimoto *et al.* 2008).

^d A son of Zn was found dead on December 30th, 2019. Zn was not observed in the E1 group since that day.

^e Nonparous

Male ID	Age (2018)	Age class (2018 and 2020)	Dominance rank (2018/2020)		Mother ID	Disappearance
TN	48 ^a	Adult	5	5	na ^d	
TW	44 ^a	Adult	4	6	na ^d	
DI	43 ^a	Adult	3	4	na ^d	
GC	30^{a}	Adult	3	4	na ^d	
NB	30^{a}	Adult	2	2	Ki	
LB	25 ^a	Adult	5	3	na ^d	
JD	25 ^a	Adult	5	na ^b	na ^d	2019.01 ^b
JR	17^{a}	Adult	4	3	Jk	
KT	14	Adult	1	1	Ki	
SB	14	Adolescent	na ^c	na ^c	Sl	2018.07 ^c
JO	12	Adolescent	5	5	Jk	
KY	9	Adolescent	4	2	Ki	
HC	9	Adolescent	5	6	Hs	

Adult and adolescer	it males
---------------------	----------

^a I estimated age based on physical features (Ryu *et al.* 2022)

^b JD had never been observed in 2020

^c SB was never observed in 2018 and 2020 (except on July 16th, 2018)

^d Their mothers were already dead

V		The number of day	Focal following hour (hour/session)				
Year Focal female IL	Focal female ID	after the last parturition (days) ^a	non-MS			MS	
2018	No	1194	15.60	19	25.22	28	
	Yk	1568	8.82	10	20.77	24	
	S1	897	14.52	16	29.87	34	
	Nv	504	13.82	16	25.15	29	
	Fk	947	14.08	16	28.08	33	
	Pf	645	21.83	24	17.18	20	
	Ik	433	12.22	15	29.45	35	
2020	No	1745	5.27	6	10.90	12	
	S1	1448	5.33	6	10.73	12	
	Nv	1055	2.75	3	11.67	13	
	Sc	296	8.10	10	7.55	9	

Table 2-2. The number of days after the last parturition and focal following time of each focal female during non-MS and MS.

^a The number of days after the last parturition was calculated using the delivery record. If a female had not been observed for several days or weeks, I considered that the female delivered on the mid-day between the last observation day without an infant and the first observation day with the infant.

predictor variables	Estimate	Std. Error	z value	Pr(> z)
(Intercept)	-0.307	0.246	-1.247	0.212
swelling status	-0.022	0.048	-0.467	0.640
the number of days after the last parturition	-0.169	0.118	-1.434	0.15148
male rank	0.842	0.288	-2.924	0.00346 **

Table 2-3. The results of GLMM in best-fit models for visual proximity.

Table 2-4. The results of GLMM in best-fit models for 5-meter proximity

predictor variables	Estimate	Std. Error	z value	Pr(> z)
(Intercept)	-3.750	0.386	-9.717	< 2e-16 ***
swelling status	-0.204	0.149	-1.375	0.169
the number of days after the last parturition	0.542	0.214	2.534	0.011263 *
male rank	-0.520	0.481	-1.081	0.280
two-way interaction between swelling status and male rank	0.741	0.210	3.523	0.000427 ***

Tuble 2-3. The results of Olivity in best in models for copulation.							
predictor variables	Estimate	Std. Error	z value	Pr(> z)			
(Intercept)	-6.964	0.700	-9.946	< 2e-16 ***			
swelling status	1.879	0.603	3.114	0.00185 **			
the number of days after the last parturition	-1.049	0.623	-1.682	0.09249			
male rank	2.470	0.516	4.791	1.66e-06 ***			

 Table 2-5. The results of GLMM in best-fit models for copulation.

Chapter 3

Partner choice in genito-genital rubbing among female bonobos (*Pan paniscus*) is highly dependent on physical proximity

1 Abstract

Socio-sexual interactions of non-human primates have multiple functions, and information on partner choice could help us to determine the major purpose of these behaviors. Female bonobos (Pan paniscus) frequently engage in genito-genital (GG) rubbing, which is categorized as a socio-sexual behavior. The functions of GG rubbing may vary across allopatric bonobo populations, especially in relation to its use in social bonding. Thus, I aimed to examine the use of GG rubbing in the formation and maintenance of social bonds by examining partner choice in this context in the habituated bonobo population at Wamba, Democratic Republic of the Congo. I examined the effect of female age (and correlated dominance rank) on the proportion of solicited GG rubbing, and the effects of age difference, proximity index, and grooming index on the successful GG rubbing occurrences. Our results showed that female age significantly affected the proportion of solicited GG rubbing, indicating that older and higher-ranking females solicited this activity more frequently. Individuals of female-female dyads who were close in age and dominance rank frequently engaged in GG rubbing. The more the females in a dyad were in physical proximity, the more they engaged in GG rubbing. No correlation was observed between grooming and GG rubbing. These results indicate that partner choice in GG rubbing is highly dependent on physical proximity, and suggest that characteristics of female gregariousness might be important with respect to this choice among bonobos.

2 Introduction

Social and sexual interactions, and also socio-sexual interactions, of non-human primates have multiple functions, and each of these tends to be characterized by partner choice. For example, grooming behavior, which is a typical social interaction in non-human primates, is considered to have multiple functions, such as the maintenance of good hygiene, the development of affiliative relationships or coalition formation with high-ranking individuals, and to enable reconciliation between opponents following aggressive interactions (Henzi and Barrett 1999; Nakamura 2003; Sakamaki 2013; Allanic et al. 2020). In rhesus macaques (Macaca mulatta brevicaudus), although grooming relationships between kin were stronger than those between non-kin, lower-ranking individuals received less aggression from higher-ranking individuals with whom they frequently performed grooming, suggesting that one function of grooming between non-kin individuals is the development of affiliative relationships with high-ranking individuals (Wu et al. 2018). Female Japanese macaques (Macaca fuscata) preferentially groomed individuals that groomed them the most, as well as individuals that supported them the most during aggressive interactions (Schino et al. 2007), implying that grooming helps the females to develop and maintain their affiliative and coalitional relationships. In sooty mangabey (Cercocebus atys) and vervet monkey (Chlorocebus aethiops), females closer in dominance rank frequently groomed each other, suggesting that females are closer in rank as a result of mutual support, and that long-term bonds are cemented by frequent

grooming (Fruteau *et al.* 2011). Sexual interactions also have multiple functions other than reproduction, such as the formation of affiliative relationships, to gain access to food resources, and for social play (Small 1989; Wrangham 1993; Manson *et al.* 1997; Fernandez-Duque *et al.* 2000). Female brown capuchin monkeys (*Cebus paella*) actively solicited dominant males for copulation to gain better access to food resources (Janson 1984). In Tibetan macaques (*Macaca thibetana*), copulated pairs spent more time co-feeding, which presumably reflected an increase in the male's tolerance of the female (Li *et al.* 2007). White-faced capuchin (*Cebus capucinus*) females often performed non-conceptive sexual interactions, and the frequent participation of immatures in sexual interactions suggested that practice was one function of this behavior (Manson *et al.* 1997).

Among bonobos (*Pan paniscus*), females frequently engage in genito-genital (GG) rubbing—categorized as a socio-sexual behavior—in which they embrace ventro-ventrally and rub their genital areas against the other's (Kuroda 1980). This behavior is rarely observed in other non-human primates, but occurs in all age combinations in bonobos (Kuroda 1980; de Waal 1990; Furuichi *et al.* 2014). Kano (1992) and Furuichi (1989) suggested that GG rubbing a social interaction, similar to greeting behaviors, rather than a sexual interaction. However, when female bonobos rub their genital areas, including the clitoris, sexual pleasure may be derived. Sometimes, female bonobos emit copulation calls during GG rubbing, although these cannot be explained by physical stimulation alone, and the females seem to show facial expressions that indicate orgasm

more clearly than during copulation (Enomoto 1990; Clay and Zuberbühler 2012). Female Japanese macaques and mountain gorillas (*Gorilla beringei*) also engage in same-sex sexual interactions that are likely related to sexual stimulation or sexual pleasure (Vasey 2006; Grueter and Stoinski 2016). Thus, GG rubbing might have both sexual and social functions. However, analyzing the sexual function of GG rubbing requires other types of behavioral studies which use a completely different approach to that of the current investigation, such as developing a scale to indicate sexual arousal during the behavior.

Many studies have focused on the social function of GG rubbing (*e.g.*, reconciliation, tension regulation, expression of social status, and social bonding) rather than sexual functions (Hohmann and Fruth 2000; Furuichi 2011). However, the social functions of GG rubbing described in previous studies are inconsistent, suggesting that GG rubbing may have multiple social functions; in addition, its usage varies among allopatric bonobo populations. Almost all previous studies on GG rubbing often occurred during social conflicts or feeding contexts to regulate social tensions (Kano 1980; de Waal 1987, 1990; Furuichi 1989; Hohmann and Fruth 2000; Ryu *et al.* 2015). However, considering the social bonding hypothesis, various functions have been predicted (*e.g.*, the formation of relationships with higher-ranking individuals, the development of relationships with unfamiliar females, the maintenance of affiliative relationships, the formation of coalitions) (Furuichi 1989;

Idani 1991; Parish 1994, 1996; Hohmann and Fruth 2000; Moscovice et al. 2017, 2019; but see Tokuyama and Furuichi 2016), and the primary function related to the social bonding hypothesis remains unclear, and neither is it known if its function varies among populations. For example, in some studies GG rubbing was considered a proximity-level mediator that promoted the social bonds necessary for cooperation and coalition formation (Parish 1994, 1996; Moscovice et al. 2017). A recent hormonal study showed that, after female bonobos engaged in GG rubbing, the neuropeptide hormone oxytocin increased greatly, which potentially led to female-female bonding (Moscovice et al. 2019). Adolescent females that have recently immigrated into a group might engage in GG rubbing with high-ranking resident females to form close associations (Furuichi 1989; Idani 1991). In contrast, other studies have reported a negative relationship between grooming and GG rubbing (Hohmann and Fruth 2000; Fruth and Hohmann 2006), and there was no evidence that GG rubbing led to the development of coalition partnerships in the study reported by Tokuyama and Furuichi (2016), all of which leads one to question the social bonding hypothesis.

As I mentioned previously, the shown significant functions of each type of behavior are predictable by understanding the tendencies in partner choice. Therefore, investigating partner choice in GG rubbing may be a valuable way to understand the primary function related to the social bonding hypothesis of this behavior. I examined the primary functions of GG rubbing among female bonobos in Wamba, Democratic Republic of the Congo, with a specific focus on the social bonding hypotheses. I established two hypothesis (Table 3-1) and examined the following predictions regarding the age, dominance rank, and affiliative relationships of the females.

Hypothesis 1: GG rubbing helps females to form relationships with higher-ranking and older females.

Prediction 1–1: Lower-ranking and younger females solicit GG rubbing more frequently than higher-ranking and older females.

Prediction 1–2: Female-female dyads with distant dominance rank and age differences engage more frequently in GG rubbing.

Hypothesis 2: GG rubbing helps females to maintain relationships with affiliative females.

Prediction 2–1: The more proximity female-female dyads have, the more they engage in GG rubbing.

Prediction 2–2: The more female-female dyads engage in grooming, the more they engage in GG rubbing.

To examine these predictions, I investigated the proportion of solicited GG rubbing among females with respect to age and dominance rank. In addition, I investigated the proportion of GG rubbing among females with respect to their age and dominance rank, and proximity and grooming indices, which indicate the degree of their affiliative relationships.

3 Methods

3-1 Study site and subjects

Data for the current study were collected for the E1 group of bonobos at Wamba, Luo Scientific Reserve, Democratic Republic of the Congo, where long-term studies on bonobos have been conducted since 1973 (Kano 1992; Furuichi *et al.* 2012). There were three fully habituated and identified groups (E1, PE, and PW) in the northern sector of the reserve, as well as one semi-habituated group (BI group) (Sakamaki *et al.* 2018). TY and local assistants observed bonobos in the E1 group for a total of 1,031.07 h during the study periods: July–December 2018, and January–March 2020. The ranging area of the E1 group includes primary, secondary, and swamp forests; bonobos rarely visit agricultural fields (Mulavwa *et al.* 2010; Terada *et al.* 2015).

During our study period, the E1 group comprised 38–41 individuals, including 12 or 13 adult females (parous or \geq 15 years old) and no or two adolescent females (nulliparous and 8 to < 15 years old) (Table 3-2). The age classes were categorized according to Hashimoto (1997) and Toda and Furuichi (2020). All the adult and adolescent females had immigrated into the E1 group from the other groups (Sakamaki *et al.* 2018; Toda and Furuichi 2020; Hashimoto *et al.* 2022); their ages were estimated from their physical features and birth records (Table 3-2).

3-2 Data collection

I followed bonobos of the E1 group from nest to nest (usually from 0600 to 1700 hours). Bonobos live in fission-fusion societies, in which party members change continuously and flexibly (Mulavwa *et al.* 2008). When the bonobos of the E1 group were separated into several parties, I followed the largest party as much as possible. Adult females showing cyclic sexual swelling were selected for continuous focal sampling (Altmann 1974). There were eight focal females in 2018 and five in 2020 (Table 3-3). I did not follow females without cyclic sexual swelling due to pregnancy, having had a stillbirth or miscarriage in their latest pregnancy, or postpartum infertility, because detumescent females perform GG rubbing less often than tumescent females (Hohmann and Fruth 2000; Ryu *et al.* 2015). In addition, I did not follow a female (Zina, in 2018) because she was afraid of observers and often ran away from focal follows. When there were multiple females that I could follow, I selected a female whose total following time for the previous day was shorter than that of the other females.

I conducted 1-h focal follows and recorded all occurrences of GG rubbing and social grooming events during that time. I also recorded the neighbors within 5 m of the focal females with 10-min instantaneous scans. The strength of affiliative relationships among primates is typically measured by rates of dyadic social behaviors, such as grooming and keeping in proximity (Cords 1997). During the focal follows, I recorded party size and composition by checking the animals that I

observed. I stopped the focal follow when I could no longer observe the focal female continuously for 20 min. I did not follow the same focal female more than once daily. Data from focal follows more than 30 min long were used for behavioral analyses. The total following time for all focal females was 384.42 h (442 focal follows; 29.57 ± 12.18 h per individual) during 1031.07 h of observations of bonobos on 122 days (8.27 ± 2.40 h/day). The average length of focal follows was 52.18 ± 7.49 min, and each focal follow included 5.45 ± 0.77 scan points (2410 scan points in 442 focal follows).

Grooming behavior was defined as a series of behavioral elements that included stroking the hair, picking at the hair, removing something with the hand or lip, and scratching the other individual (Nakamura 2000, 2003; Sakamaki 2013). When I confirmed dyadic grooming involving focal females during the focal follow, I recorded the name of the partner for that grooming event. GG rubbing was defined as females embracing a partner female ventro-ventrally and each female rubbing her genitalia against the other's (Kuroda 1980). When focal females engaged in GG rubbing, I recorded the context, duration, and name of the partner. In addition, prior to the focal females engaging in GG rubbing, I recorded the solicitor, as defined by Hohmann and Fruth (2000), among the pair who initiated the GG rubbing by presenting her genitalia ventrally to the other female (Pic 3-1). The definition of successful GG rubbing is when the following procedural activities are observed; (1) A female (solicitor) shows her genitalia to another female (partner), (2) the partner female approaches and embraces the solicitor, and (3) the solicitor and partner females rub their

genitalia against each other (Pic 3-1, 3-2, and 3-3).



Figure 3-1. (1) The female on the left was defined as the solicitor who showed her genital area to the right one who was looking for some food on the ground in this situation.



Figure 3-2. (2) The female on the right approached and embraced the one on the left after she showed her genital area. The female on the right was then defined as the partner.



Figure 3-3. (3) The solicitor and partner females rubbed their genital areas against each other; this was defined as successful GG rubbing.

3-3 Dominance hierarchy among females

All female-female dyadic agonistic interactions (*e.g.*, biting, hitting, pushing, and chasing) were recorded to determine dominance hierarchy. TY observed 45 agonistic interactions during study period 1, and 12 agonistic interactions during study period 2. These data were too scarce to confirm the dominance hierarchy among females. Therefore, I included additional data on dyadic agonistic interactions collected by other researchers (K. Toda and S. Shibata) and local assistants who followed the E1 group from December 2018 to January 2020 in the current study (the total number of agonistic interactions from July 2018 to March 2020 was 88) (the details are given in the Supplementary Table). I used ADAGIO (Douglas *et al.* 2017) to determine the dominance hierarchy among the females. I tested the correlation between female age and the ADAGIO rank using

Pearson's product-moment correlation test. The dominance hierarchy of the females was not significantly linear (ADAGIO, h' = 0.402, P = 0.168), and their dominance ranks were significantly correlated with age (Pearson's product-moment correlation test, r = 0.820, df = 12, P < 0.001).

3-4 Data analysis

All analyses were conducted using R statistical software (v 4.0.3; R development Core Team 2008). The lme4 package (Douglas *et al.* 2012) was used for all generalized linear mixed models (GLMMs) and the car package (Fox and Weisberg 2018) was used to test variance inflation factors (VIF). Determination of the model with the best fit was based on the smallest Akaike's information criterion (Akaike 1974). The collinearity between the predictors was evaluated by VIF for all models. All models that include issues of collinearity (VIF > 5) (Leroux *et al.* 2021) were excluded from the analyses.

To test the effect of age (nearly equal to dominance rank) on the solicitation of GG rubbing, I ran a GLMM with one focal follow as one data point. I entered 1 or 0, depending on whether the focal female solicited GG rubbing or not, respectively, in the focal follow as the response variable using the cbind function and the error distribution binomial. I entered the age of the focal females as a predictor variable (prediction 1–1). The data points for this analysis were all records of focal follows for each subject female in each study period (eight females in 2018 and five females in 2020; Table 3-3). I included the names of focal females as random variables in the model to avoid pseudo-replication. Before running the model, I standardized the covariates of female ages to a mean of 0 and a SD of 1 (Toda and Furuichi 2020; Yokoyama and Furuichi 2022).

To test the effect of age differences (nearly equal to dominance rank differences), proximity, and grooming on GG rubbing, I ran a GLMM with one focal follow as one data point. I entered 1 or 0, depending on whether GG rubbing between the focal female and partner female was observed or not, respectively, in the focal follow as the response variable using the cbind function and the error distribution, binomial. I entered the absolute value of age differences, proximity index, and grooming index between the two females as predictor variables (predictions 1–2, 2–1, and 2–2). The data points for this analysis were all records of focal follows for each female dyad in each study period (28 dyads in 2018 and ten dyads in 2020; Table 3-3). I included the names of females in the dyad as random variables in the model to avoid pseudo-replication. I standardized the covariates of these absolute values to a mean of 0 and a SD of 1 (Toda and Furuichi 2020; Yokoyama and Furuichi 2022).

The number of subject females was recorded during focal follows. The average number of subject females was 5.41 ± 1.78 in 2018 and 3.17 ± 1.03 in 2020. This suggests that most of the subject females were available as partners for GG rubbing, proximity, and grooming. However, to ensure availability for selection and the mutuality of selection, I excluded the data points in which

partner females were not in sight during the focal follows.

I calculated the proximity index and grooming index in dyads (A and B) as follows (Cairns and Schwager 1987; Tokuyama and Furuichi 2016):

(1) Proximity index = $\{Pr(ab) + Pr(ba)\} / \{Sc(ab) + Sc(ba)\}$

where Pr(ab) is the number of scans of A where B was within 5 m of A, Sc(ab) is the number of scans in all focal follows of A in which B was in sight.

(2) Grooming index = $\{Gr(ab) + Gr(ba)\} / \{Fo(ab) + Fo(ba)\}$

where Gr(ab) is the number of focal follows of A in which A engaged in dyadic grooming with B, and Fo(ab) is the number of focal follows of A in which B was in sight.

I tested two two-way interactions, between age difference and proximity index and between age difference and grooming index, to test predictions 1-2, 2-1, and 2-2. If these two-way interactions were not significant effects in the models, I removed them during the testing procedure (Mundry *et al.* 2009).

4 Results

4-1 Influences of female age on the proportion of solicited GG rubbing

One hundred and thirty-one cases of solicited GG rubbing involving focal females were recorded during focal follows of eight females in 2018 and five females in 2020. Among these, GG rubbing was not successfully elicited in nine cases, of which one involved solicitation by an older female, one involved solicitation by a female of the same age, and seven involved solicitation by younger females. Six cases seemed to be caused by other factors, such as occurrences of aggressive behaviors by other individuals around those GG rubbing, distinct vocalization of offspring, and the encounter with local people, not depending on partners' preferences. These data were excluded from behavioral analyses because they were too scarce for statistical analyses to be conducted. Female age (and correlated dominance rank) significantly affected the proportion of solicited GG rubbing (Table 3-4). Older (and possibly higher-ranking) females solicited GG rubbing more often than younger (and possibly lower-ranking) females (Table 3-4).

4-2 Influences of age differences, proximity index, and grooming index on the proportion of GG rubbing

One hundred and twenty-two cases of GG rubbing were recorded among female dyads during focal follows (Table 3-3). One hundred and two cases were recorded during the context of feeding, ten cases were recorded during ranging, and ten cases were recorded during resting. Seventy-two cases of grooming involving focal females were recorded among female dyads during the focal follows (Table 3-3). I did not include any two-way interactions between age difference and proximity index and between age difference and grooming index in the GLMM analysis because these two-way interactions were not significant effects in the GLMM models. Age difference was significantly correlated with the proportion of GG rubbing, which implied that the dominance rank difference was possibly correlated with the proportion of GG rubbing, suggesting that the dyads close in age and dominance rank engaged in GG rubbing more frequently (Table 3-5). The proximity index was significantly correlated with the proportion of GG rubbing; the more frequently the dyads were in proximity, the more they engaged in GG rubbing (Table 3-5). There was no correlation between grooming index and proportion of GG rubbing (Table 3-5).

5 Discussion

The current study investigated the social bonding hypothesis of GG rubbing in bonobos, which has not yet reached a consensus among the various hypotheses, focusing on partner choice. Female age (and correlated dominance rank) significantly affected the proportion of solicited GG rubbing, which indicated that older (and possibly higher-ranking) females solicited GG rubbing more frequently. Dyads close in age and dominance rank frequently engaged in GG rubbing. The more frequently the dyads were in proximity, the more they engaged in GG rubbing. However, no correlation was observed between grooming and GG rubbing. Table 3-1 summarizes the predictions that I established to test the social bonding hypothesis, and the corresponding results. In all, our results strongly supported prediction 2–1, suggesting that partner choice for GG rubbing depends greatly on the opportunity for physical proximity, but that there is no partner preference for GG rubbing.

Two unexpected results were that older and higher-ranking females solicited GG rubbing frequently, and that dyad females that were close in age and dominance rank engaged in GG rubbing frequently. These results were in contrast to those reported previously (Hohmann and Fruth 2000; Fruth and Hohmann 2006) that suggested that lower-ranking females had a tendency to initiate GG rubbing more frequently than higher-ranking ones. The correlations between female age (nearly equal to dominance rank) and solicited GG rubbing can be interpreted in two ways. First, the current study did not include behavioral data of non-parous females for analysis (because they were pregnant), which could not show the clear tendencies described in previous studies, possibly owing to some differences in the partner choice regarding GG rubbing between parous and non-parous females. Second, older and higher-ranking females might initiate GG rubbing to maintain female cohesiveness. Older and higher-ranking females usually initiate feeding and ranging behaviors, which help to maintain cohesiveness (Parish 1994; Tokuyama and Furuichi 2017). Tokuyama (2016) suggested that female gregariousness induces mutual benefits for both older (tend to be higher-ranking) and younger (tend to be lower-ranking) females, such as younger ones receiving agonistic support from older ones and providing mating opportunities for male offspring of older females. Therefore, in the current study, older (nearly equal to higher-ranking) females might solicit

GG rubbing frequently to maintain cohesiveness and the initiation of GG rubbing by older females may have a similar function.

There was a significant effect of proximity on the proportion of GG rubbing, suggesting that occurrences of this behavior are opportunistic. The correlation between proximity and GG rubbing may be compatible with the tension regulation and reconciliation hypothesis. GG rubbing usually occurs in a feeding context, which may promote proximity and increase tension, provoking a need for reconciliation among females (Kano 1980; de Waal 1987, 1990; Furuichi 1989; Hohmann and Fruth 2000; Ryu *et al.* 2015; Moscovice *et al.* 2019). In the current study, 83.61% of GG rubbing events occurred in feeding contexts. There might have been differences in the correlations between proximity and GG rubbing in other non-feeding contexts; however, the behavioral data were too scarce to examine this.

The fact that females close in age and dominance rank performed GG rubbing more frequently may also be interpreted in line with the significant influence of proximity on its occurrence. Female bonobos usually aggregate in the central part of a mixed-sex party, whereas males tend to stay on the periphery (Furuichi 1997). In addition, older and higher-ranking females tend to stay in the most central part and in the best feeding positions (Furuichi 1989, 2011; Parish 1994), and younger and lower-ranking females may experience feeding disadvantages to some extent (Nurmi *et al.* 2018). These results imply that female-female dyads whose ages and dominance ranks are close might maintain greater physical proximity compared to those more distant in age and dominance rank. In this situation, female-female dyads with large age and dominance rank differences might have smaller chances to engage in GG rubbing compared with small age and dominance rank differences, resulting in females choosing partners who are close in physical proximity for GG rubbing. These characteristics of female gregariousness might be an important factor in the choice of GG rubbing partners.

One notable result of the current study was that females might not choose affiliative individuals who engaged in grooming frequently as partners for GG rubbing, even though GG rubbing is considered a social interaction rather than a sexual interaction. Partner choice in GG rubbing might be reflected sexually, such as negative imprinting (or the Westermarck effect), which is characterized by individuals developing a strong sexual aversion to those with whom they have lived closely since a young age (Westermarck 1891; Rantala and Marcinkowska 2011). Previous studies showed a negative relationship between grooming and GG rubbing in bonobos (Hohmann and Fruth 2000; Fruth and Hohmann 2006). In Japanese macaques and rhesus macaques, females tend to avoid copulating with the same group members who have been in the group for a long time and affiliative individuals (Berard 1999; Takahata *et al.* 1999). Similarly, female bonobos might also tend to avoid choosing affiliative individuals for GG rubbing. However, in the current study, I did not consider the duration of grooming to create that index, which is an affiliative measure. The mean duration of grooming clusters was 27.2 ± 29.2 min (the longest cluster lasted for at least 190 min) (Sakamaki 2013), and grooming with a very short duration apparently functioned as a greeting or appeasement (Kuroda 1980). In the current study, grooming among the same dyad within the focal follow was considered as one event irrespective of that duration. Therefore, further studies should consider the strength of affiliations formed by grooming while examining individual dyads to better understand the relationship between GG rubbing and grooming.

In summary, the current study showed that older and higher-ranking females solicit GG rubbing more frequently, and that partner choice for GG rubbing often depends on proximity to available partners. This suggests that female gregariousness might be an important factor with respect to choice of partner in GG rubbing. On the other hand, there was no relationship between grooming and GG rubbing, suggesting that the partner chosen for GG rubbing might reflect the sexual aspect of that choice. Although GG rubbing is often considered a social interaction or a greeting behavior (Kano 1992; Hohmann and Fruth 2000; Furuichi 2011), more research is needed to understand its multiple functions, while considering both social and sexual ones.

Hypothesis	Prediction	Used model for investigation	Result
H1. GG rubbing helps to form relationships with higher-ranking and older females	P1-1: Lower-ranking and younger females solicit GG rubbing more frequently than higher-ranking and older females	Model 1 (Table 3-4)	Not supported
	P1-2: Female-female dyads with distant dominance rank and age differences engage more frequently in GG rubbing	Model 2 (Table 3-5)	Not supported
H2. GG rubbing helps maintain relationships with affiliative females	P2-1: The more proximity female-female dyads have, the more they engage in GG rubbing.	Model 2 (Table 3-5)	Supported
	P2-2: The more female-female dyads engage in grooming, the more they engage in GG rubbing.	Model 2 (Table 3-5)	Not supported

Table 3-1. Summary of established predictions that I tested in this study and their corresponding results

	1			e	1			
Fomolo	$\Lambda_{00}(2018)$	Age class		ADAGIO	Last birth in 2018	Last birth in 2020	Year and month of	Disappagrapag
Feinale	Age (2018)	(2018/2020)		rank	[year (month.day)]	[year (month.day)]	immigration	Disappearance
Nao	47 ^a	Adult	Adult	2	2015 (04.10-04.13)	2015 (04.10-04.13)	1983.11	
Kiku	44 ^a	Adult	Adult	1	2014 (01.29-02.03)	2019 (05.16-05.17)	1984.12	
Hoshi	35 ^a	Adult	Adult	3	na ^b	na ^b	1996.02-2003.08 ^c	
Yuki	35 ^a	Adult	Adult	3	2014 (03.30-04.07)	na ^b	2004.04	
Jacky	30 ^a	Adult	Adult	9	na ^b	na ^b	2004.04	
Sala	27 ^a	Adult	Adult	4	2016 (01.31-02.05)	2016 (01.31-02.05)	1996.02-2003.08 ^c	
Nova	23 ^a	Adult	Adult	5	2017 (02.24-03.07)	2017 (02.24-03.07)	2007.08	
Otomi	21 ^a	Adult	Adult	6	na ^b	na ^b	2008.06	
Fuku	20 ^a	Adult	Adult	7	2015 (12.13-12.16)	2020 (02.27-02.28)	2008.04	
Zina	16 ^a	Adult	na ^d	8	2017 (01.11-02.10)	na ^d	2011.10	2019.12 ^d
Puffy	14	Adult	Adult	6	2016 (10.05-10.19)	2016 (10.05-10.19)	2013.10	
Ichiko	11	Adult	Adult	8	2017 (05.08-05.15)	2017 (05.08-05.15)	2014.10	
Sachi	9	Adolescent	Adult	9	na ^e	2019 (03.17-04.13)	2015.11	
Debby	9	Adolescent	Adult	7	na ^e	2020 (01.20-01.21)	2016.08	

Table 3-2. Composition of adult and adolescent females in the E1 group

^a Age was estimated based on physical features and reproductive profiles (Sakamaki et al. 2015; Toda and Furuichi 2020).

^b Stillbirth or miscarriage was confirmed in the latest pregnancy.

^c Hoshi and Sala were identified after resumption of research after the war in 2003 (Hashimoto *et al.* 2008).

^d A male offspring of Zina was found dead on December 30, 2019. Zina was not detected in the E1 group after that day.

^e Non-parous

Year	Focal female	Focal follow (hour)	Focal follow (times)	Scan point	Solicitation	GG rubbing	Grooming	Proximity
2018	Nao	40.82	47	254	9	14	8	266
	Kiku	28.88	33	181	6	10	3	241
	Yuki	29.58	34	182	6	12	2	227
	Sala	44.38	50	277	8	14	2	226
	Nova	38.97	45	246	5	17	13	288
	Fuku	42.17	49	272	5	13	10	239
	Puffy	39.02	44	244	0	5	10	252
	Ichiko	41.67	50	260	5	21	12	230
2020	Nao	16.17	18	103	1	2	1	74
	Yuki	16.64	19	104	4	6	2	72
	Sala	16.07	18	104	2	2	4	73
	Nova	14.42	16	86	0	6	5	68
	Sachi	15.65	19	97	0	0	0	35

 Table 3-3. Focal follow time with all scan points and dyadic events of each focal female

nundiator variable		Solicited GG rubbing					
	Estimate	Std. Error	z value	Pr(> z)			
(Intercept)	-1.274	0.349	-3.649	0.000263 ***			
focal female age	2.081	0.627	3.321	0.000899 ***			

Table 3-4. Results of GLMM that investigated the effect of focal female age on the proportion of solicited GG rubbing (Model 1)

Table 3-5. Results of GLMM that investigated the effect of age differences, proximity index, and grooming index on the proportion of GG rubbing (Model

 2)

andistan yanishlas	Proportion of GG rubbing						
predictor variables	Estimate	Std. Error	z value	Pr(> z)			
(Intercept)	-3.518	0.372	-9.467	<2e-16 ***			
age difference	-1.149	0.454	-2.530	0.0114 *			
proximity index	4.584	1.923	2.384	0.0171 *			
grooming index	-0.200	2.741	-0.073	0.942			

		Recipient of aggression														
Aggressor	Nao	Kiku	Hoshi	Yuki	Jacky	Sala	Nova	Otomi	Fuku	Zina	Puffy	Ichiko	Sachi	Debby	Total	
Nao	-	0	1	1	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4	
Kiku	2	-	13	5	3	2	2	0	1	1	0	3	1	1	34	
Hoshi	0	0	-	0	0	2	0	0	4	0	0	2	1	0	9	
Yuki	0	0	0	-	0	1	0	0	1	0	4	1	0	1	8	
Jacky	0	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Sala	0	0	0	0	0	-	1	1	1	0	1	1	6	1	12	
Nova	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	1	3	0	1	5	
Otomi	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	1	3	6	
Fuku	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	-	2	0	0	0	0	3	
Zina	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	1	0	1	0	2	
Puffy	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	-	0	0	1	2	
Ichiko	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	1	0	2	
Sachi	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	0	0	
Debby	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	-	1	
Total	2	0	15	6	8	5	3	1	8	3	7	11	11	8	88	

Supplement: Number of dyadic aggressive behaviors among females (Observed from July 2018 to March 2020)

Chapter 4

General Discussion

1. Summary of results and limitations

In Chapter 2, I examined the mating and association patterns while considering female sexual states. I conducted focal animal observations of females and analyzed the influence of female sexual swelling, the number of days after parturition, and the dominance rank of males on the proportions of visual proximity, 5-meter proximity, and copulation. My results showed that females copulated with adult males more often during maximum swelling (MS) than during non-maximum swelling (non-MS). Females had visual proximity and copulated with higher-ranking males more frequently than lower-ranking males. Two notable results were recorded. 1) The number of days after parturition significantly affected the proportion of 5-m proximity, showing that females for whom longer time had elapsed since the last parturition had more frequent 5-m proximity with males than those for whom shorter time had elapsed. 2) When females showed MS, the effect of male dominance rank on the proportion of 5-m proximity appeared stronger, suggesting that females with MS had 5-m proximity with higher-ranking males more often than with lower-ranking males. These results suggested that partner preferences in copulation were evident when females show a high probability of conception. However, in the current study, I did not analyze which individual (female

or male) took the initiative for close proximity and copulation. Therefore, this study cannot clearly explain the partner choice or preferences in selecting copulation partners.

A recent study showed that males followed females with MS more intensively than those at other stages of the sexual swelling phase (Ryu et al. 2022). Males appear to approach females showing MS, which could be a visual cue for high conception probability, in an attempt to initiate copulation. During the study, I observed one case where a female, likely undergoing ovulation, kept close proximity and copulated with a particular male repeatedly and showed symptoms of conception thereafter. Previous hormonal studies on wild bonobos in LuiKotale and four captive groups in Cologne, Twycross, Stuttgart, and Frankfurt indicated that MS of female bonobos might not be a reliable indicator of ovulation (Reichert et al. 2002; Douglas et al. 2016). However, a previous study on the same subject group as the current study showed that ovulation, in 13 of the 14 observations, mostly occurred towards the end of the MS (Hashimoto et al. 2022). A recent study on bonobos showed that the copulation interventions between males and copulation frequency increased closer to the ovulation day of females (Ryu et al. 2022). To sufficiently understand the high reproductive skew of high-ranking males in bonobos, more detailed studies are needed to examine partner choices, especially during ovulatory periods detected by hormonal analyses.

In Chapter 3, I examined partner choice for GG rubbing with a specific focus on the social bonding hypothesis. The following were two established hypotheses: 1) GG rubbing helps to form
relationships with higher-ranking and older females, and 2) GG rubbing helps maintain relationships with affiliative females. I investigated the proportion of solicited GG rubbing among females with respect to their age correlated with their dominance rank and the proportion of successful GG rubbing among females with respect to their age differences, proximity index, and grooming index. My results showed that the age difference between females was significantly correlated with the proportion of successful GG rubbing, suggesting that the dyads close in age and dominance rank engaged in GG rubbing more frequently. The proximity index was significantly correlated with the proportion of successful GG rubbing; the more the frequency of dyad proximity, the greater their engagement in GG rubbing. These results partly supported the second established hypothesis. However, I documented two unexpected results: 1) Female age significantly affected the proportion of solicited GG rubbing, suggesting that older and higher-ranking females solicited GG rubbing more often than younger and lower-ranking ones. Behavioral analyses, including the data of adult and adolescent females, should be performed to understand the partner choice for GG rubbing. Previous studies suggested that early immigrated adolescent females engage in GG rubbing with high-ranking resident females to form close associations (Furuichi 1989; Idani 1991). The current study could not examine the relationships of GG rubbing between adult and adolescent females because adolescent females were pregnant, which could reflect a different tendency of partner choice compared to previous studies. 2) There was no correlation between the grooming index and the

proportion of GG rubbing, suggesting that the choice of GG rubbing partners was independent of the affiliative relationships. In the current study, I did not consider the duration of grooming to create that index, which was an affiliative measure. While the longest grooming cluster lasted for ~ 190 min, the mean duration of these clusters was 27.2 ± 29.2 min (Sakamaki 2013). Considerably short durations of grooming served as a greeting or appeasement (Kuroda 1980). Therefore, further studies are needed to consider the levels of affiliations due to grooming to analyze correlations between GG rubbing and affiliative relationships.

2. Comparison of behavioral patterns in copulation and GG rubbing between genus Pan

Although chimpanzees and bonobos belong to the same genus (i.e., *Pan*), there are differences in their behavioral characteristics. In both species, although groups are composed of multiple male and female members, males tend to stay with the group throughout their life but females leave their natal group before or after reaching sexual maturity (Nishida 1979; Goodall 1986; Kano 1992; Toda *et al.* 2022). In chimpanzees, male dominance ranks usually dominate over those of females (Nishida 1968; Goodall 1986; Nishida *et al.* 1999; Newton-Fisher 2004; Newton-Fisher *et al.* 2010). Loss of a mother decreased the likelihood of survival in infants, juveniles, and early adolescents, in the longer term (Nakamura *et al.* 2014). However, only a few anecdotal cases have been reported to date indicating maternal support of adult or subadult sons in

the competition for raising dominance rank (Goodall 1986; Boesch 2009; Surbeck et al. 2011; Nakamura et al. 2014). Although males frequently fight other males to compete for fertile females, occasional cooperation between males during mating is observed (Tutin 1979; Goodall 1986; Nishida 1997; Watts 1998; Wroblewski et al. 2009; Newton-Fisher et al. 2010; Surbeck et al. 2011). Copulations often involve possessiveness and coerciveness by males (Tutin 1979; Goodall 1986; Nishida et al. 1999). Male aggression toward females is often observed in forced consortships, where a male compels a cycling female to accompany him to a peripheral part of the territory to exclude rival males from mating (Goodall 1986; Smuts and Smuts 1993; Muller et al. 2009). Thus, copulation in chimpanzees appears to be affected by male behaviors. In contrast, in bonobos, the female dominance ranks usually dominate over or are equal to those of males (Kano 1992; Furuichi 1997). Such female dominance appears possible because of coalitional relationships between females to counter the males' aggressive behaviors (White 1992; Parish 1996; Tokuyama and Furuichi 2016). The association of male philopatry with high female leverage may explain the absence of coalitions or alliances between males in the mating context (Surbeck et al. 2011). Additionally, male bonobos rarely show aggressive behaviors against females in the context of copulation (Furuichi 1997; Hohmann and Fruth 2003). This may be because female bonobos show sexual receptivity during non-conceptive nursing periods (prolonged maximum sexual swelling), which might regulate the aggressive behaviors of males (Furuichi 1987; Kano 1992; de Waal 1995).

This manipulative sexual receptivity in bonobos has been noted with the fact that there is no known case of coercive mate guarding and infanticide by males (Furuichi and Hashimoto 2002; Ryu et al. 2015; Hashimoto et al. 2022). Notably, recent genetic studies have shown higher reproductive skew in bonobos than in chimpanzees (Ishizuka et al. 2018; Surbeck et al. 2019). Therefore, I had predicted that copulatory preferences would be more evident in female bonobos than in chimpanzees owing to the reduced influence of male bonobo behavior on copulation. In addition, I had expected that female bonobos copulate with males promiscuously to fulfill social functions, except for those with a high probability of conception. However, the current study found that female copulation was frequently observed in specific combinations. This tendency might be affected by female gregariousness. That is, females tend to choose partners for copulation depending on close physical proximity. Considering the characteristics of gregariousness in bonobos, female bonobos usually aggregate in the central part of the mixed-sex party, whereas males tend to be peripheral (Furuichi 1997, 2011). The existence of a male's mother in the group and her dominance rank among females seemed to influence the son's dominance rank among males; males tended to be closely associated with their mothers (Furuichi and Ihobe 1994; Furuichi 1997, 2011). Moreover, direct maternal support of sons in agonistic conflicts over access to sexually receptive females has been reported (Surbeck et al. 2011). Therefore, males with high-ranking mothers might have access to sexually receptive females when their mothers aggregate in the central part of the mixed-sex party (Figure

4-1). In this situation, females could have lesser chances to mate with males who stay at the

periphery without their mothers than males with higher-ranking mothers.



Figure 4-1. Female aggregations during a group encounter of three groups. The adolescent male (KY), who is grasping the vertical branch with his right hand in this picture, was able to approach these females and copulate with an adult female of the other group (PE) repeatedly during observing for approximately one and a half hours. However, no adult males could approach these females and stay at the peripheral part of this female aggregation.

The characteristics of female gregariousness, especially during feeding, might also

influence partner choice in GG rubbing. Females usually aggregate in the central part of the mixed-sex party; however, older and higher-ranking females seem to be more centrally located, while the younger and lower-ranking females seem to be more peripheral to them (Furuichi 1989, 2011; Parish 1994, 1996; Nurmi *et al.* 2018). Although these characteristics of female gregariousness related to their ages or dominance ranks are not still clearly supported by behavioral data, female–female dyads with distant age and dominance rank differences might have smaller chances to engage

in GG rubbing compared to those with close age and dominance ranks. These characteristics of female gregariousness might result in females choosing partners who are close in physical proximity for GG rubbing.

Genito-genital rubbing was also observed in some study sites of chimpanzees (Anestis 2004; Zamma and Fujita 2004; Shimada 2014; Hashimoto personal communication). Notably, 12 cases of successful GG rubbing were recorded during 556 h of study periods at Bossou, Guinea (Zamma and Fujita 2004). Although GG rubbing of female chimpanzees is not habitual behavior observed in all study sites, female chimpanzees may potentially engage in GG rubbing as one of the behavioral repertoires. Female chimpanzees do not often associate or maintain proximity with other females (Nishida 1968; Goodall 1986; Furuichi 2011), which may explain why chimpanzees do not perform GG rubbing as do female bonobos. At Bossou, where GG rubbing was observed more frequently, grooming and proximity between females were frequently observed compared to those at other study sites, such as Gombe National Park, Tanzania, Mahale Mountains, Tanzania, and Kibale National Park, Uganda (Sugiyama 1988). The completely deflated sexual skin of female chimpanzees in postpartum infertility or non-swelling phase in the menstrual cycle may also explain the low frequency of GG rubbing (Hashimoto in prep). Even in bonobos, females with non-swelling engage in GG rubbing less often than those with maximum swelling (Furuichi 1992; Ryu et al. 2015). The characteristic intermediate swelling of sexual skin in female bonobos, even during non-receptive

periods, may be related to the evolution and their high frequency of GG rubbing (Hashimoto in prep).

High gregariousness in female bonobos has benefits, such as maintaining coalitional relationships among females against male harassment, taking the initiative of ranging behaviors, and getting access to food resources (Parish 1994, 1996; Furuichi 2011; Tokuyama and Furuichi 2017). On an individual basis, high gregariousness might provide high opportunities for specific pair combinations to engage in female–male and male–male interactions, especially copulation and GG rubbing.

3. Variation of partner choice for copulation and GG rubbing

The results of this study may be a tendency observed in the particular situation, and it is necessary to examine how bonobos choose their partner for copulation and GG rubbing in various conditions.

Partner choices in copulation may vary depending on the number of males getting maternal support. During the study period, there were three adult males with mothers in the same group (NB, KT, and JR). With the highest-ranking mother (Ki), NB and KT could approach and copulate with females frequently. However, JR could not approach females because his mother (Jk) was pregnant, and they usually stayed at the peripheral part of the mixed-sex party. While Jk seemed to stay at the peripheral part of the mixed-sex party to avoid harassment from other females or males, her son JR usually followed her and could not get maternal support to approach other females. An increase in the number of males who can get maternal support subsequently increases options for partner choice for copulation.

In the current study, older (nearly equal to higher-ranking) females solicited GG rubbing frequently, a tendency different from that observed in previous studies (de Waal 1987; Parish 1994; Hohmann and Fruth 2000; Fruth and Hohmann 2006), indicating that GG rubbing usage varies among allopatric bonobo populations. Some previous studies suggest that lower-ranking females initiate GG rubbing and take the mountee position frequently to show the display submission towards higher-ranking females (de Waal 1987; Parish 1994; Hohmann and Fruth 2000; Fruth and Hohmann 2006). Especially in the case of captive bonobos, they may need GG rubbing to display social status because a large number of aggressive behaviors occur, and their dominance hierarchy may be expressed more linearly than in the wild (de Waal 1987; Parish 1994). In contrast, other studies showed no asymmetry of dominance rank in invitations to GG rubbing (Paoli et al. 2006; Clay and Zuberbühler 2012; Furuichi 2019). In the current study, older (nearly equal to high-ranking) females initiated GG rubbing more often than younger (nearly equal to low-ranking) females, and almost all solicitors took the mountee positions. I could not confirm the clear linear dominance hierarchy among females in the current study, and the dominance hierarchy of females in the subject group (E1) has been stable since 2006 (K. Toda personal communication). Therefore, females may not have needed to initiate GG rubbing to show their social status at Wamba.

4. Future studies on partner choice in socio-sexual interactions among primates, including humans

My initial motivation for studying bonobos was to understand how same-sex sexual interactions in humans have evolved. Investigating socio-sexual interactions in non-human primates can propose evolutional perspectives to understand same-sex sexual interactions in humans (Vasey 1995; Kirkpatrick 2000; Barron and Hare 2020). Nevertheless, the adaptive functions of these interactions in primates, including humans, remain controversial. Moreover, within or between species, it remains unclear whether same-sex sexual interactions are similar to that between opposite-sex individuals or are similar to social interactions (Kirkpatrick 2000; Vasey 2006; Dixson 2010). For example, same-sex sexual interactions in humans might maintain same-sex alliances with reproductive advantages (influence rates of survival and reproductive success) (Kirkpatrick 2000; Muscarella 2000). Barron and Hare (2020) compared humans and bonobos, arguing that same-sex sexual attraction evolved as just one of a suite of traits responding to strong selection for ease of social integration or prosocial behavior. Sexual interactions between female lowland gorillas (Gorilla gorilla gorilla) were observed and segregated into categories operationally defined as

connoting playful, homosexual, and affiliative activities (Fischer and Nadler 1978). A previous study suggested that pleasure-seeking might be one potential function of sexual interactions between same-sex individuals among the old world anthropoids (Dixson 2010). In humans, sexual interactions between same-sex individuals tended to take time compared to that between opposite-sex individuals, suggesting that one aspect of same-sex sexual interactions might be for gaining sexual pleasure (Masters and Jonson 1979; Rye and Meaney 2007). In female stump-tailed monkeys (Macaca arctoides), sexual interactions between females appeared pleasurable and sexually stimulating; it was characterized by prolonged genital stimulation through various means, sometimes culminating in orgasms (Chevalier-Skolnikoff 1976). Sexual interactions between females have also been observed in Japanese macaques and mountain gorillas (Gorilla beringei), which might be related to sexual gratification and pleasure (Vasey 1998, 2002a, 2006; Grueter and Stoinski 2016). Vasey (2006) suggested that sexual interactions between female Japanese macaques may be based on mutual sexual attraction between the partners, similar to that between opposite-sex individuals. In addition, he argued that these interactions may have evolved as a by-product of selection for female-male mounting that females use strategically to encourage sexually disinterested males to copulate with them (Vasey 2006; Grueter and Stoinski 2016).

In bonobos, GG rubbing is considered a social interaction, like a greeting behavior (Kano 1992; Furuichi 2019). However, it is somewhat difficult to understand why bonobos use genitals to

fulfill their social functions even though they should be able to utilize other ways that have been observed in chimpanzees, such as grasp hand, embrace, and kiss (e.g., pout-kiss, open-mouth kiss) (Goodall 1989; Nishida et al. 1999, 2010; van Lawick-Goodall 2006). Probably, when female bonobos rub their genital areas, including the clitoris, sexual pleasure may be derived. During GG rubbing, females sometimes produce individually distinct vocalizations, copulation calls, which share the same acoustic structure as those that are made when copulating with males (Thompson-Handler et al. 1984; Clay and Zuberbühler 2011, 2012; Clay et al. 2011). Females seem to display facial expressions that indicate orgasm more clearly than during copulation (Enomoto 1990). However, Furuichi (2019) suggested that the vocalization during GG rubbing is more like screaming, and unlike female vocalization during copulation, it is vocalized from the beginning of the act and does not escalate during GG rubbing. However, there is little data to compare the sexual and social aspects of GG rubbing. Therefore, this study investigated the behavioral patterns of copulation and GG rubbing to understand their similarities and differences, which could help determine whether GG rubbing is a social interaction. This study suggests that partner choice for copulation and GG rubbing might relate to close physical proximity, and behavioral patterns of copulation and GG rubbing might be similar. Moreover, females might not choose their GG rubbing partner depending on affiliative relationships. Previous studies have reported a negative relationship between grooming and GG rubbing (Hohmann and Fruth 2000; Fruth and Hohmann 2006).

Although GG rubbing is said to have strong social functions, GG rubbing might be affected by sexual aspects observed in copulation, such as the Westermarck effect (Westermarck 1891). However, analyzing the sexual aspects of GG rubbing requires further studies using an approach different from that used in the current study, such as considering a scale for sexual arousal during GG rubbing.

Notably, biological functions do not fully explain the evolutional process of same-sex sexual interactions in humans because these interactions are affected by social, historical, and cultural factors (Kirkpatrick 2000). The study of socio-sexual interactions in bonobos alone is insufficient to deduce how same-sex sexual interactions in humans have evolved. The comparison of socio-sexual interactions in various primates, including humans, might shed light on biological or adaptive explanations of same-sex sexual interactions in humans.

References

- Akaike H (1974) A new look at the statistical model identification. *IEEE Trans Automat Contr* 19:716–723. https://doi.org/10.1109/TAC.1974.1100705
- Alberts SC (2012) Magnitude and sources of variation in male reproductive performance. In: Mitani J, Call J, Kappeler P, *et al.* (eds) *The evolution of primate societies*. University of Chicago Press, Chicago, pp 412–431
- Alberts SC, Buchan JC, Altmann J (2006) Sexual selection in wild baboons: from mating opportunities to paternity success. *Anim Behav* 72:1177–1196. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2006.05.001

Alfaro JWL (2005) Male mating strategies and reproductive constraints in a group of wild tufted capuchin

monkeys (Cebus apella nigritus). Am J Primatol 67:313-328. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajp.20188

Allanic M, Hayashi M, Furuichi T, Matsuzawa T (2020) Social influences on grooming site preferences in wild bonobos (*Pan paniscus*) at Wamba, DRC. *Primates* 61:213–223.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10329-019-00788-z

Altmann J (1974) Observational study of behavior: sampling methods. Behaviour 227-267

Anestis S (2004) Female genito-genital rubbing in a group of captive chimpanzees. Int J Primatol

25:477-488

Annicchiarico G, Bertini M, Cordoni G, Palagi E (2020) Look at me while having sex! Eye-to-eye contact affects homosexual behaviour in bonobo females. *Behaviour* 157:949–970.

https://doi.org/10.1163/1568539x-bja10034

- Barron AB, Hare B (2020) Prosociality and a sociosexual hypothesis for the evolution of same-sex attraction in humans. *Front Psychol* 10:2955. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02955
- Berard JD (1999) A four-year study of the association between male dominance rank, residency status, and reproductive activity in rhesus macaques (*Macaca mulatta*). *Primates* 40:159–175
- Bernstein IS (1976) Dominance, aggression and reproduction in primate societies. J Theor Biol 60:459-

472. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-5193(76)90072-2

Boesch C (2009) The real chimpanzee: sex stratesies in the forest. Cambridge University Press,

Cambridge, U.K

- Boesch C, Kohou G, Néné H, Vigilant L (2006) Male competition and paternity in wild chimpanzees of the Taï forest. *Am J Phys Anthropol* 130:103–115. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajpa.20341
- Bulger JB (1993) Dominance rank and access to estrous females in male savanna baboons. *Behaviour* 127:67–103
- Cairns SJ, Schwager SJ (1987) A comparison of association indices. *Anim Behav* 35:1454–1469. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0003-3472(87)80018-0
- Chapais B, Gauthier C, Prud'homme J, Vasey PL (1997) Relatedness threshold for nepotism in Japanese macaques. *Anim Behav* 53:1089–1101. https://doi.org/10.1006/ANBE.1996.0365

Chapais B, Mignault C (1991) Homosexual incest avoidance among females in captive Japanese

macaques. Am J Primatol 23:171-183. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajp.1350230304

- Chevalier-Skolnikoff S (1976) Homosexual behavior in a laboratory group of stumptail monkeys (*Macaca arctoides*): Forms, contexts, and possible social functions. *Arch Sex Behav* 1976 56 5:511–527. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01541216
- Clay Z, Pika S, Gruber T, Zuberbühler K (2011) Female bonobos use copulation calls as social signals. Biol Lett 7:513–516. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2010.1227
- Clay Z, Zuberbühler K (2011) The structure of bonobo copulation calls during reproductive and

non-reproductive sex. Ethology 117:1158-1169. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0310.2011.01975.x

Clay Z, Zuberbühler K (2012) Communication during sex among female bonobos: Effects of dominance,

solicitation and audience. Sci Rep 2:1-8. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep00291

Clutton-Brock T (2007) Sexual selection in males and females. Science 318:1882-1885.

https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1133311

- Cords M (1997) Friendships, alliances, reciprocity and repair. In: Whiten A, Byrne R (eds) *Machiavellian Intelligence II: extensions and evaluations*. Cambridge University Press, pp 24–49
- Cowlishaw G, Dunbar RIM (1991) Dominance rank and mating success in male primates. Anim Behav

41:1045-1056. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0003-3472(05)80642-6

Curie-Cohen M, Yoshihara D, Luttrell L, *et al* (1983) The effects of dominance on mating behavior and paternity in a captive troop of rhesus monkeys (*Macaca mulatta*). *Am J Primatol* 5:127–138.

https://doi.org/10.1002/AJP.1350050204

- de Ruiter JR, van Hooff JARAM (1993) Male dominance rank and reproductive success in primate groups. *Primates* 34:513–523
- de Waal FBM (1987) Tension regulation and nonreproductive functions of sex in captive bonobos (*Pan paniscus*). *Nat Geogr Res* 3:318–335
- de Waal FBM (1990) Sociosexual behavior used for tension regulation in all age and sex combinations among bonobos. In: Feierman, JR (ed) *Pedophilia*. Springer, New York, pp 378–393

de Waal FBM (1995) Bonobo sex and society. Sci Am 272:82-88

Deschner T, Heistermann M, Hodges K, Boesch C (2004) Female sexual swelling size, timing of

ovulation, and male behavior in wild West African chimpanzees. Horm Behav 46:204-215.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2004.03.013

Dixson AF (1977) Observations on the displays, menstrual cycles and sexual behaviour of the "Black ape" of Celebes (*Macaca nigra*). J Zool 182:63–84.

https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1469-7998.1977.TB04141.X

- Dixson AF (1998) Primate sexuality: Comparative studies of the prosimians, monkeys, apes and human beings. Oxford University Press, Oxford
- Dixson AF (2010) Homosexual behaviour in primates. In: Poiani A (ed) *Animal Homosexuality: A biosocial perspective*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp 381–400

Douglas B, Martin M, Ben B (2012) lme4: linear mixed-effects models using S4 classes. R Studio.

- Douglas PH, Hohmann G, Murtagh R, *et al* (2016) Mixed messages: Wild female bonobos show high variability in the timing of ovulation in relation to sexual swelling patterns. *BMC Evol Biol* 16:2–4. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12862-016-0691-3
- Douglas PH, Ngonga Ngomo AC, Hohmann G (2017) A novel approach for dominance assessment in gregarious species: ADAGIO. *Anim Behav* 123:21–32.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2016.10.014

- Ellis L (1995) Dominance and reproductive success among nonhuman animals: A cross-species comparison. *Ethol Sociobiol* 16:257–333. https://doi.org/10.1016/0162-3095(95)00050-U
- Engelhardt A, Hodges JK, Heistermann M (2007) Post-conception mating in wild long-tailed macaques (*Macaca fascicularis*): Characterization, endocrine correlates and functional significance. *Horm Behav* 51:3–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.YHBEH.2006.06.009
- Enomoto T (1990) Social play and sexual behavior of the bonobo (*Pan paniscus*) with special reference to flexibility. *Primates* 31:469–480. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02382531
- Fairbanks LA, Mcguire MT, Kerber W (1977) Sex and aggression during rhesus monkey group formation. Aggress Behav 3:241–249. https://doi.org/10.1002/1098-2337(1977)3:3
- Fernandez-Duque E, Valeggia CR, Mason WA (2000) Adult–adult play in primates: Comparative analyses of its origin, distribution and evolution. *Ethology* 106:1083–1104.

https://doi.org/10.1046/J.1439-0310.2000.00627.X

Fischer RB, Nadler RD (1978) Affiliative, playful, and homosexual interactions of adult female lowland gorillas. *Primates* 19:657–664. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02373633

Fox J, Weisberg S (2018) An R companion to applied regression (3rd ed.) Thousand Oaks: SAGE

- Fruteau C, Lemoine S, Hellard E, *et al* (2011) When females trade grooming for grooming: Testing partner control and partner choice models of cooperation in two primate species. *Anim Behav* 81:1223–1230. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2011.03.008
- Fruth B, Hohmann G (2006) Social grease for females? Same sex genital contacts in wild bonobos. In:
 Vasey P, Sommer V (eds) *Homosexual behaviour in animals: An evolutionary perspective*.
 Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, U.K, pp 294–315
- Fujita S (2010) Interaction between male and female mating strategies and factors affecting reproductive outcome. In: Nakagawa N, Nakamichi M, Sugiura H (eds) *The Japanese macaques*. Springer, Tokyo, pp 221–239. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-4-431-53886-8_10
- Fürtbauer I, Heistermann M, Schülke O, Ostner J (2011) Concealed fertility and extended female sexuality in a non-human primate (*Macaca assamensis*). *PLoS One* 6:e23105.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0023105

Furuichi T (1987) Sexual swelling, receptivity, and grouping of wild pygmy chimpanzees females at Wamba, Zaire. *Primates* 28:309–318

- Furuichi T (1989) Social interactions and the life history of female *Pan paniscus* in Wamba, Zaire. *Int J Primatol* 10:173–197. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02735199
- Furuichi T (1992) The prolonged estrus of females and factors influencing mating in a wild unit-group of bonobos (*Pan paniscus*) in Wamba, Zaire. In: Itoigawa N, Sugiyama Y, Sackett G, Thompson R (eds) *Topics in primatology, vol. 2: Behavior, ecology, and conservation*. University of Tokyo Press, Tokyo, pp 179–190
- Furuichi T (1997) Agonistic interactions and matrifocal dominance rank of wild bonobos (*Pan paniscus*) at Wamba. *Int J Primatol* 18:855–875. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1026327627943
- Furuichi T (2011) Female contributions to the peaceful nature of bonobo society. *Evol Anthropol* 20:131–
- Furuichi T (2019) Bonobo and Chimpanzee: The lessons of social coexistence. Springer Nature,

Singapore

142. https://doi.org/10.1002/evan.20308

- Furuichi T, Connor RC, Hashimoto C (2014) Non-conceptive sexual interactions in monkeys, apes, and dolphins. In: Yamagiwa J, Karczmarski L (eds) *Primates and cetaceans: Field research and conservation of complex mammalian societies*. Springer, Tokyo, pp 385–408
- Furuichi T, Hashimoto C (2002) Why female bonobos have a lower copulation rate during estrus than chimpanzees. In: Boesch C, Hohmann G, Marchant L (eds) *Behavioural diversity in chimpanzees* and bonobos. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp 156–167

- Furuichi T, Idani G, Ihobe H, *et al* (2012) Long-term studies on wild bonobos at Wamba, Luo Scientific
 Reserve, DR Congo: Towards the understanding of female life history in a male-philopatric species.
 In: Kappeler P, Watts D (eds) *Long-term field studies of primates*. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg, pp
 413–433
- Furuichi T, Ihobe H (1994) Variation in male relationships in bonobos and chimpanzees. *Behaviour* 130:211–228
- Goodall J (1968) The behaviour of free-living chimpanzees in the Gombe Stream Reserve. Anim Behav

Monogr 1:161-311. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0066-1856(68)80003-2

Goodall J (1986) The chimpanzees of Gombe : Patterns of behavior. Harvard University Press,

Cambridge

Goodall J (1989) Glossary of Chimpanzee Behaviors. Jane Goodall Institute, Tucson

Grueter CC, Stoinski TS (2016) Homosexual behavior in female mountain gorillas: Reflection of dominance, affiliation, reconciliation or arousal? *PLoS One* 11:1–13.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0154185

Hanby JP (1974) Male-male mounting in Japanese monkeys (Macaca fuscata). Anim Behav 22:836-849.

https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-3472(74)90006-2

Hashimoto C (1997) Context and development of sexual behavior of wild bonobos (Pan paniscus) at

Wamba, Zaire. Int J Primatol 18:1-21. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1026384922066

Hashimoto C, Ryu H, Mouri K, *et al* (2022) Physical, behavioral, and hormonal changes in the resumption of sexual receptivity during postpartum infertility in female bonobos at Wamba.

Primates 63:109-121. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10329-021-00968-W/FIGURES/4

Hashimoto C, Tashiro Y, Hibino E, et al (2008) Longitudinal structure of a unit-group of bonobos: Male
philopatry and possible fusion of unit-groups. In: Furuichi T, Thompson J (eds) The bonobos.
Developments in primatology: Progress and prospects. Springer New York, pp 107–119

Henzi SP, Barrett L (1999) The value of grooming to female primates. Primates 40:47-59.

https://doi.org/10.1007/bf02557701

- Hohmann G, Fruth B (2000) Use and function of genital contacts among female bonobos. *Anim Behav* 60:107–120. https://doi.org/10.1006/anbe.2000.1451
- Hohmann G, Fruth B (2003) Intra- and inter-sexual aggression by bonobos in the context of mating.

Behaviour 1389-1413

Hrdy SB (1979) Infanticide among animals: A review, classification, and examination of the implications for the reproductive strategies of females. *Ethol Sociobiol* 1:13–40.

https://doi.org/10.1016/0162-3095(79)90004-9

Idani G (1991) Social relationships between immigrant and resident bonobo (*Pan paniscus*) females at Wamba. *Folia Primatol* 57:83–95. https://doi.org/10.1159/000156568

Inoue M, Takenaka A, Tanaka S, et al (1990) Paternity discrimination in a Japanese macaque group by

DNA fingerprinting. Primates 1990 314 31:563-570. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02382539

Ishizuka S, Kawamoto Y, Sakamaki T, *et al* (2018) Paternity and kin structure among neighbouring groups in wild bonobos at Wamba. *R Soc Open Sci* 5:171006. 171006.

https://doi.org/10.1098/rsos.171006

Janson CH (1984) Female choice and mating system of the brown capuchin monkey *Cebus apella* (Primates: Cebidae). *Z Tierpsychol* 65:177–200.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0310.1984.tb00098.x

- Kano T (1980) Social behavior of wild pygmy chimpanzees (*Pan paniscus*) of Wamba: A preliminary report. *J Hum Evol* 9:243–260. https://doi.org/10.1016/0047-2484(80)90053-6
- Kano T (1992) The last ape: Pygmy chimpanzee behavior and ecology. Stanford, CA: Stanford

University Press.

- Kappeler PM (2012) Mate choice. In: Mitani JC, Call J, Kappeler PM, et al. (eds) The evolution of primate societies. University of Chicago Press, Chicago, pp 367–386
- Kappeler PM, van Schaik CP (2002) Evolution of primate social systems. Int. J. Primatol. 23:707-740

Keddy-Hector AC (1992) Mate choice in non-human primates. Am Zool 32:62-70.

https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/32.1.62

Kirkpatrick RC (2000) The evolution of human homosexual behavior. Curr Anthropol 41:385-413.

https://doi.org/10.1086/300145

- Kitamura K (1989) Genito-genital contacts in the pygmy chimpanzees (*Pan paniscus*). *Afr Study Monogr* 10:49–67. https://doi.org/10.14989/68052
- Kokko H (2001) Fisherian and "good genes" benefits of mate choice: how (not) to distinguish between

them. Ecol Lett 4:322-326. https://doi.org/10.1046/J.1461-0248.2001.00224.X

Kuroda S (1980) Social behavior of the pygmy chimpanzees. Primates 21:181-197

Kutsukake N, Nunn CL (2006) Comparative tests of reproductive skew in male primates: The roles of demographic factors and incomplete control. *Behav Ecol Sociobiol* 60:695–706.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s00265--006--0213--1

Leca JB, Gunst N, Vasey PL (2014) Male homosexual behavior in a free-ranging all-male group of Japanese macaques at Minoo, Japan. *Arch Sex Behav* 43:853–861.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-014-0310-6

- Leroux M, Bosshard AB, Chandia B, *et al* (2021) Chimpanzees combine pant hoots with food calls into larger structures. *Anim Behav* 179:41–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ANBEHAV.2021.06.026
- Li J, Yin H, Zhou L (2007) Non-reproductive copulation behavior among Tibetan macaques (*Macaca thibetana*) at Huangshan, China. *Primates* 48:64–72. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10329-006-0002-5
- Majolo B, Lehmann J, de Bortoli Vizioli A, Schino G (2012) Fitness-related benefits of dominance in primates. *Am J Phys Anthropol* 147:652–660. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajpa.22031

Manson JH, Perry S, Parish AR (1997) Nonconceptive sexual behavior in bonobos and capuchins. Int J

Primatol 18:767-786. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1026395829818

Masters W, Jonson V (1979) Homosexuality in perspective. Brown, Boston, MA: Little

Matsumoto-Oda A (1999) Female choice in the opportunistic mating of wild chimpanzees (Pan

troglodytes schweinfurthil) at Mahale. Behav Ecol Sociobiol 46:258–266.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s002650050618

- Moscovice LR, Douglas PH, Martinez-Iñigo L, *et al* (2017) Stable and fluctuating social preferences and implications for cooperation among female bonobos at LuiKotale, Salonga National Park, DRC. *Am J Phys Anthropol* 163:158–172. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajpa.23197
- Moscovice LR, Surbeck M, Fruth B, *et al* (2019) The cooperative sex: Sexual interactions among female bonobos are linked to increases in oxytocin, proximity and coalitions. *Horm Behav* 116:104581. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2019.104581
- Mulavwa MN, Furuichi T, Yangozene K, *et al* (2008) Seasonal changes in fruit production and party size of bonobos at Wamba. In: Furuichi T, Thompson J (eds) *The bonobos: behavior, ecology, and conservation*. Springer, New York, pp 121–134
- Mulavwa MN, Yangozene K, Yamba-Yamba M, *et al* (2010) Nest groups of wild bonobos at Wamba: Selection of vegetation and tree species and relationships between nest group size and party size. *Am J Primatol* 72:575–586. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajp.20810

Muller MN, Kahlenberg S, Wrangham RW (2009) Male aggression against females and sexual coercion

in chimpanzees. In: Muller MN, Wrangham RW (eds) *Sexual coercion in primates: An* evolutionary perspective on male aggression against females. Harvard University Press, Cambridge, MA, pp 184–217

Muller MN, Mitani JC (2005) Conflict and cooperation in wild chimpanzees. Adv Study Behav 35:275-

331. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-3454(05)35007-8

Mundry R, Nunn CL, Martins EP, Whitlock MC (2009) Stepwise model fitting and statistical inference: Turning noise into signal pollution. *Am Nat* 173:119–123. https://doi.org/10.1086/593303

Muscarella F (2000) The evolution of homoerotic behavior in humans. J Homosex 40:51-77.

https://doi.org/10.1300/J082V40N01_03

Nakamura M (2000) Is human conversation more efficient than chimpanzee grooming? Hum Nat 11:281-

297

- Nakamura M (2003) "Gatherings" of social grooming among wild chimpanzees: implications for evolution of sociality. *J Hum Evol* 59–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0047-2484(02)00194-X
- Nakamura M, Hayaki H, Hosaka K, *et al* (2014) Brief communication: Orphaned male chimpanzees die young even after weaning. *Am J Phys Anthropol* 153:139–143. https://doi.org/10.1002/AJPA.22411
 Newton-Fisher NE (2004) Hierarchy and social status in Budongo chimpanzees. *Primates* 45:81–87.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10329-003-0064-6

Newton-Fisher NE, Thompson ME, Reynolds V, et al (2010) Paternity and social rank in wild

chimpanzees (*Pan troglodytes*) from the Budongo Forest, Uganda. *Am J Phys Anthropol* 142:417–428. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajpa.21241

Nishida T (1968) The social group of wild chimpanzees in the Mahali Mountains. Primates 9:167-224.

https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01730971

Nishida T (1979) The social structure of chimpanzees of the Mahale Mountains. In: Hamburg D,

McCown E (eds) The great apes. Menlo Park, CA: Benjamin/Cummings, pp 72-121

Nishida T (1997) Sexual behavior of adult male chimpanzees of the Mahale Mountains National Park,

Tanzania. Primates 38:379-398. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02381879

- Nishida T, Kano T, Goodall J, et al (1999) Ethogram and ethnography of Mahale chimpanzees. *Anthropol Sci* 107:141–188. https://doi.org/10.1537/ase.107.141
- Nishida T, Zamma K, Matsusaka T, et al (2010) Chimpanzee behaviour in the wild: An audio-visual encyclopedia. Springer, Tokyo
- Nurmi NO, Hohmann G, Goldstone LG, *et al* (2018) The "tolerant chimpanzee"—towards the costs and benefits of sociality in female bonobos. *Behav Ecol* 29:1325–1339.

https://doi.org/10.1093/BEHECO/ARY118

Oi T (1991) Non-couplatory mounting of wild pig-tailed macaques (*Macaca nemestrina*) in West Sumatra, Indonesia. In: Ehara A, Kimura T, Takenaka O, Iwamoto M (eds) *Primatology Today*. Elsevier Science Publishers, Amsterdam, pp 147–150

- Ostner J, Nunn CL, Schülke O (2008) Female reproductive synchrony predicts skewed paternity across primates. *Behav Ecol* 19:1150–1158. https://doi.org/10.1093/beheco/arn093
- Owens NW (1975) A comparison of aggressive play and aggression in free-living baboons, Papio anubis.

Anim Behav 23:757-765. https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-3472(75)90103-7

Behaviour 57:241-258. https://doi.org/10.1163/156853976X00541

Owens NW (1976) The development of sociosexual behaviour in free-living baboons, Papio anubis.

Paoli T, Palagi E, Tacconi G, Borgognini Tarli S (2006) Perineal swelling, intermenstrual cycle, and female sexual behavior in bonobos (*Pan paniscus*). *Am J Primatol* 68:333–347.

https://doi.org/10.1002/ajp.20228

- Parish AR (1994) Sex and food control in the "uncommon chimpanzee": How bonobo females overcome a phylogenetic legacy of male dominance. *Ethol Sociobiol* 15:157–179
- Parish AR (1996) Female relationships in bonobos (*Pan paniscus*): Evidence for bonding, cooperation, and female dominance in a male-philopatric species. *Hum Nat* 7:61–96.

https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02733490

Parish AR, de Waal FBM (2000) The other "closest living relative": How bonobos (*Pan paniscus*) challenge traditional assumptions about females, dominance, intra- and intersexual interactions, and hominid evolution. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 907:97–113.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2000.tb06618.x

Paul A (2002) Sexual selection and mate choice. Int J Primatol 23:877-904.

https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1015533100275

- Paul A, Kuester J, Timme A, Arnemann J (1993) The association between rank, mating effort, and reproductive success in male Barbary macaques (*Macaca sylvanus*). *Primates* 34:491–502. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02382660
- Pieta K (2008) Female mate preferences among Pan troglodytes schweinfurthii of Kanyawara, Kibale National Park, Uganda. *Int J Primatol* 29:845–864. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10764-008-9282-5
- Pusey A (1990) Mechanisms of inbreeding avoidance in nonhuman primates. In: Feierman, JR (ed)

Pedophilia. Springer, New York, pp 201-220. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4613-9682-6_8

Rantala MJ, Marcinkowska UM (2011) The role of sexual imprinting and the Westermarck effect in mate choice in humans. *Behav Ecol Sociobiol* 2011 655 65:859–873.

https://doi.org/10.1007/S00265-011-1145-Y

- Reichert KE, Heistermann M, Hodges JK, *et al* (2002) What females tell males about their reproductive status: Are morphological and behavioural cues reliable signals of ovulation in bonobos (*Pan paniscus*)? *Ethology* 108:583–600. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1439-0310.2002.00798.x
- Robbins MM (1996) Male-male interactions in heterosexual and all-male wild mountain gorilla groups. *Ethology* 102:942–965. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0310.1996.tb01172.x

Rye BJ, Meaney GJ (2007) The pursuit of sexual pleasure. Sex Cult 2007 111 11:28–51.

https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02853934

- Ryu H, Hashimoto C, Hill DA, *et al* (2022) Do males know? Evidence-driven rainmaking of male bonobos to meet the fertile window of females. *bioRxiv* https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.03.13.483391
- Ryu H, Hill DA, Furuichi T (2015) Prolonged maximal sexual swelling in wild bonobos facilitates affiliative interactions between females. *Behaviour* 152:285–311.

https://doi.org/10.1163/1568539X-00003212

- Sakamaki T (2013) Social grooming among wild bonobos (*Pan paniscus*) at Wamba in the Luo Scientific Reserve, DR Congo, with special reference to the formation of grooming gatherings. *Primates* 54:349–359. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10329-013-0354-6
- Sakamaki T, Behncke I, Laporte M, *et al* (2015) Intergroup transfer of females and social relationships between immigrants and residents in bonobo (*Pan paniscus*) societies. In: Furuichi T, Yamagiwa J, Aureli F (eds) *Dispersing primate females: Life history and social strategies in male-philopatric species*. Springer, Tokyo, pp 127–164
- Sakamaki T, Ryu H, Toda K, *et al* (2018) Increased frequency of intergroup encounters in wild bonobos (*Pan paniscus*) around the yearly peak in fruit abundance at Wamba. *Int J Primatol* 39:685–704. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10764-018-0058-2
- Schino G, Di Sorrentino EP, Tiddi B (2007) Grooming and coalitions in Japanese macaques (*Macaca fuscata*): Partner choice and the time frame reciprocation. *J Comp Psychol* 121:181–188.

https://doi.org/10.1037/0735-7036.121.2.181

- Shimada M (2014) Homosexual interactions among young female wild chimpanzee: An example of social pretend play? *Pan Africa News* 21(1):6–8
- Small MF (1989) Female choice in nonhuman primates. Am J Phys Anthropol 32:103–127.

https://doi.org/10.1002/ajpa.1330320506

- Smuts B, Smuts R (1993) Male aggression and sexual coercion of females in nonhuman primates and other mammals: Evidence and theoretical implications. *Adv Study Behav* 22:1–63
- Srivastava A, Borries C, Sommer V (1991) Homosexual mounting in free-ranging female Hanuman langurs (*Presbytis entellus*). Arch Sex Behav 20:487–512. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01542410
- Stumpf RM, Boesch C (2005) Does promiscuous mating preclude female choice? Female sexual

strategies in chimpanzees (Pan troglodytes verus) of the Taï National Park, Côte d'Ivoire. Behav

Ecol Sociobiol 57:511-524. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00265-004-0868-4

Stumpf RM, Boesch C (2006) The efficacy of female choice in chimpanzees of the Taï forest, Côte

d'Ivoire. Behav Ecol Sociobiol 60:749-765. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00265-006-0219-8

Sugiyama Y (1988) Grooming interactions among adult chimpanzees at Bossou, Guinea, with special reference to social structure. *Int J Primatol* 9:393–407.

https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02736216/METRICS

Surbeck M, Boesch C, Crockford C, et al (2019) Males with a mother living in their group have higher

paternity success in bonobos but not chimpanzees. Curr Biol 29:R354-R355.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2019.03.040

- Surbeck M, Boesch C, Girard-Buttoz C, et al (2017a) Comparison of male conflict behavior in
 - chimpanzees (*Pan troglodytes*) and bonobos (*Pan paniscus*), with specific regard to coalition and post-conflict behavior. *Am J Primatol* 79:1–11. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajp.22641
- Surbeck M, Hohmann G (2013) Intersexual dominance relationships and the influence of leverage on the outcome of conflicts in wild bonobos (*Pan paniscus*). *Behav Ecol Sociobiol* 67:1767–1780.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s00265-013-1584-8

- Surbeck M, Langergraber KE, Fruth B, *et al* (2017b) Male reproductive skew is higher in bonobos than chimpanzees. *Curr Biol* 27:R640–R641. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2017.05.039
- Surbeck M, Mundry R, Hohmann G (2011) Mothers matter! Maternal support, dominance status and mating success in male bonobos (*Pan paniscus*). *Proc R Soc B Biol Sci* 278:590–598.

https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2010.1572

Takahata Y (1982) The socio-sexual behavior of Japanese monkeys. Z Tierpsychol 59:89–108.

https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1439-0310.1982.TB00332.X

Takahata Y, Huffman MA, Suzuki S, *et al* (1999) Why dominants do not consistently attain high mating and reproductive success: A review of longitudinal Japanese macaque studies. *Primates* 40:143– 158. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02557707 Takenoshita Y (1998) Male homosexual behaviour accompanied by ejaculation in a free-ranging troop of Japanese macaques (*Macaca fuscata*). *Folia Primatol* 69:364–367.

https://doi.org/10.1159/000021653

- Terada S, Nackoney J, Sakamaki T, *et al* (2015) Habitat use of bonobos (*Pan paniscus*) at Wamba: Selection of vegetation types for ranging, feeding, and night-sleeping. *Am J Primatol* 77:701–713. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajp.22392
- Thompson-Handler N, Malenky R, Badrian N (1984) Sexual behavior of Pan paniscus. In: Susman RL (ed) *The pygmy chimpanzee: evolutionary biology and behavior*. Plenum Press, New York, pp 347– 368
- Toda K, Furuichi T (2020) Low resistance of senior resident females toward female immigration in bonobos (*Pan paniscus*) at Wamba, Democratic Republic of the Congo. *Int J Primatol* 41:415–427. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10764-020-00151-w
- Toda K, Furuichi T (2022) Do immigrant female bonobos prefer older resident females as important partners when integrating into a new group? *Primates* 1:1–14.

https://doi.org/10.1007/S10329-021-00971-1

Toda K, Mouri K, Ryu H, *et al* (2022) Do female bonobos (*Pan paniscus*) disperse at the onset of puberty? Hormonal and behavioral changes related to their dispersal timing. *Horm. Behav* 142, 105159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2022.105159

- Tokuyama N (2016) Female gregariousness and social bonding in the male-philopatric society of bonobos (*Pan paniscus*). Ph.D. thesis. Kyoto University
- Tokuyama N, Furuichi T (2016) Do friends help each other? Patterns of female coalition formation in wild bonobos at Wamba. *Anim Behav* 119:27–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2016.06.021
- Tokuyama N, Furuichi T (2017) Leadership of old females in collective departures in wild bonobos (*Pan paniscus*) at Wamba. *Behav Ecol Sociobiol* 71:. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00265-017-2277-5
- Tutin CEG (1979) Mating patterns and reproductive strategies in a community of wild chimpanzees (*Pan troglodytes schweinfurthii*). *Behav Ecol Sociobiol* 6:29–38. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00293242
- van Lawick-Goodall J (2006) The behavior of chimpanzees in their natural habitat. Amer J Psychiat

130:1-12. https://doi.org/10.1176/AJP.130.1.1

Vasey PL (1995) Homosexual behavior in primates: A review of evidence and theory. Int J Primatol

16:173-204. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02735477

- Vasey PL (1998) Female choice and inter-sexual competition for female sexual partners in Japanese Macaques. *Behaviour* 135:579–597. https://doi.org/10.1163/156853998792897897
- Vasey PL (2002a) Same-sex sexual partner preference in hormonally and neurologically unmanipulated animals. *Annu Rev Sex Res* 13:141–179
- Vasey PL (2002b) Sexual partner preference in female japanese macaques. Arch Sex Behav 31:51–62. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1014079117864

- Vasey PL (2006) The pursuit of pleasure: An evolutionary history of female homosexual behaviour in Japanese macaques. In: Sommer V, Vasey P (eds) *Homosexual behaviour in animals: An* evolutionary perspective. Cambridge University Press, pp 191–219
- Watts DP (1998) Coalitionary mate guarding by male chimpanzees at Ngogo, Kibale National Park,

Uganda. Behav Ecol Sociobiol 44:43-55. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002650050513

Weingrill T, Lycett JE, Barrett L, *et al* (2003) Male consortship behaviour in chacma baboons: the role of demographic factors and female conceptive probabilities. *Behaviour* 140:405–427.

https://doi.org/10.1163/156853903321826701

- Westermarck E (1891) The history of human marriage. Macmillan, London
- White FJ (1992) Pygmy chimpanzee social organization: Variation with party size and between study

sites. Am J Primatol 26:203-214. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajp.1350260306

Wickler W (1967) Socio-sexual signals and their intra-specific imitation among primates. In: Morris D

(ed) Pinnate Ethology. Weidenfield and Nicolson, London, pp 69-147

Wolff JO, MacDonald DW (2004) Promiscuous females protect their offspring. Trends Ecol Evol

19:127-134. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TREE.2003.12.009

Wrangham RW (1993) The evolution of sexuality in chimpanzees and bonobos. Hum Nat 4:47-79.

https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02734089

Wroblewski EE, Murray CM, Keele BF, et al (2009) Male dominance rank and reproductive success in

chimpanzees, Pan troglodytes schweinfurthii. Anim Behav 77:873-885.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2008.12.014

- Wu CF, Liao ZJ, Sueur C, et al (2018) The influence of kinship and dominance hierarchy on grooming partner choice in free-ranging Macaca mulatta brevicaudus. Primates 59:377–384. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10329-018-0662-Y/TABLES/3
- Yamagiwa J (1987) Intra- and inter-group interactions of an all-male group of virunga mountain gorillas

(Gorilla gorilla beringei). Primates 28:1-30. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02382180

Yokoyama T, Furuichi T (2022) Why bonobos show a high reproductive skew towards high-ranking

males: analyses for association and mating patterns concerning female sexual states. Primates

63:483-494. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10329-022-01004-1/FIGURES/3

Young GH, Coelho AM, Bramblett CA (1982) The development of grooming, sociosexual behavior, play and aggression in captive baboons in their first two years. *Primates* 23:511–519.

https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02373962

Zamma K, Fujita S (2004) Genito-genital rubbing among the chimpanzees of Mahale and Bossou. *Pan Africa News* 11(2):5-8